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MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED2

DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set 

out below:

“Articles” the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

“ASP” average selling price

“Audit Committee” the Audit Committee of the Board

“Board” the board of Directors

“BVI” British Virgin Islands 

“Chairman” the chairman of the Board 

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

“Company” Maike Tube Industry Holdings L imited, an exempted a company 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 1 February 2019 
and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange

“Corporate Governance Code” Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, 
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Director(s)” Director(s) of the Company

“Delta Electric (Thailand)” Delta Electric (Thailand) Company Limited, a company incorporated under the 
laws of Thailand on 13 January 2021 and an indirectly non wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company

“ERW” or “electric 
technology resistance 
welding”

the acronym for electric resistance welding, a welding used in the 
manufacture of pipes under which pipes are made from strips of hot rolled 
steel coil which are passed through forming rolls and welded by using heat 
generated by high frequency electric current passing over the surface of the 
strips

“ERW steel pipe(s)” steel pipes formed by utilising ERW technology

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“Guan Dao Investments” Guan Dao Investments Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of 
the BVI with limited liability on 3 January 2019 and a direct wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company
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DEFINITIONS

“HKD” or “HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“HVAC” heating, ventilation and air conditioning

“Independent Third Party(ies)” an individual or a company who is not connected with (within the meaning 
of the List ing Rules) any Directors, chief executive or substantial 
Shareholders of the Company or its subsidiaries or any of their respective 
associates

“Jinan Ma Steel” Jinan Magang Steel Pipes Manufacturing Company*（濟南瑪鋼鋼管製造有限
公司）, a company established under the laws of the PRC as a limited 
liability company on 7 November 2001 and an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company

“Jinan Mech” Jinan Mech Piping Technology Co., Ltd*（濟南邁科管道科技有限公司）, a 
company established under the laws of the PRC as a joint stock company 
with limited liability company on 21 May 2013 and an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Date” 18 December 2019, the date on which the Shares were listed and on which 
dealings in the Shares were first permitted to take place on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

“Meide” Meide Group Co., Ltd.*（玫德集團有限公司）(formerly known as Jinan Meide 
Foundry Co., Ltd*（濟南玫德鑄造有限公司）), a company established under 
the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company on 17 January 1992, and 
held as to 64.51% by Jinan Gong Chuang Meide Corporate Management 
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*（濟南共創玫德企業管理合夥企業（有限合
夥））and 35.49% by Ningbo Ming De Heng Sheng Investment Limited*（寧波
明德恒生投資有限公司）

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

“Mr. Kong” Mr. Kong Linglei（孔令磊）, one of our Controlling Shareholders

“Nomination Committee” the Nomination Committee of the Board

“Prospectus” prospectus of the Company dated 29 November 2019

“Remuneration Committee” the Remuneration Committee of the Board
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DEFINITIONS

“RMB” Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), 
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Shares” ordinary shares of our Company with a nominal value of USD0.0001 each

“Share Option Scheme” a share option scheme passed pursuant to a written resolution by the 
Shareholder on 19 November 2019

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

“SSAW steel pipe(s)” spiral submerged arc welded steel pipes which formed by util ising 
submerged arc welding technology with spiral weld seam, i.e., pipes made 
from strips of hot rolled steel plates formed helically into cylinders and then 
welded as they are formed

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Tong Chuang Xing De BVI” Tong Chuang Xing De Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of 
the BVI with limited liability on 4 January 2019. Tong Chuang Xing De BVI is 
one of our substantial Shareholders

“Tube Industry Investments” Tube Industry Investments Limited, a company incorporated under the laws 
of Hong Kong on 23 January 2019 and an indirectly wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company

“THB” Thai Baht, the lawful currency of Thailand

“USD” United States dollar, the lawful currency of United States

“Vietnam Piping” Viet Nam Piping Industries Company Limited, a company incorporated 
under the laws of V ietnam on 7 January 2019 and an indirect ly 
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

“VND” Vietnamese Dong, the lawful currency of Vietnam

“Ying Stone” Ying Stone Holdings Limited, one of our Controlling Shareholders, a 
company incorporated under the laws of the BVI with limited liability on 8 
January 2019, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Kong as his investment 
holding company

In this annual report, “we”, “us” or “our” refers to the Company and where the context otherwise requires, 

the Group (as defined above).

*  for identification purposes only
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Lei	 (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Ning
Mr. Yang Shufeng

Non-executive Director
Ms. Zhao Xuelian

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Liu Fengyuan
Mr. Ding Xiaodong
Mr. SUN Yongxi	 (Appointed on 29 June 2023)
Mr. Ma Changcheng	 (Resigned on 1 April 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ding Xiaodong	 (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Fengyuan
Mr. SUN Yongxi	 (Appointed on 29 June 2023)
Mr. Ma Changcheng	 (Resigned on 1 April 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Fengyuan	 (Chairman)
Mr. Guo Lei
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Mr. Ma Changcheng	 (Resigned on 1 April 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
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Mr. Liu Fengyuan
Mr. Sun Yongxi	 (Appointed on 29 June 2023)
Mr. Ma Changcheng	 (Resigned on 1 April 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wing Lun	 (HKICPA)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES (FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF THE LISTING RULES)

Mr. Guo Lei
Mr. Leung Wing Lun	 (HKICPA)

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE 
OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 4 Meide Street

Meigui Zone of Industrial Park

Pingyin County

Jinan, Shandong Province

China

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE 
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1102,

11/F, Brill Plaza,

84 To Kwa Wan Road,

To Kwa Wan,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

LEGAL ADVISOR AS TO 
HONG KONG LAW 

Stevenson, Wong & Co. 

39/F, Gloucester Tower, 

The Landmark, 

15 Queen’s Road Central, 

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE 
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shop 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

35th Floor, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Pingyin Branch

Bank of China Pingyin Branch

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

STOCK CODE

1553

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.mechpipingtech.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Group and the Board of Directors of the Group, I am pleased to present to the Shareholders 

the audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023. In 2023, we not only took upon challenges 

and overcame obstacles as we always do, but also rose to the occasion through dedicated efforts and 

perseverance, shaping a compelling future for Maike Tube’s high-quality development and for our 

shareholders. In 2023, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately RMB2,190.9 million (2022: 

approximately RMB2,107.3 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 4%. Our net profit 

for the year amounted to approximately RMB152.9 million (2022: approximately RMB138.8 million), 

representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 10.6%. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the parent company was approximately RMB0.354 (2022: approximately RMB0.322).

As we reflect upon the past year, it unfolded the first year of fully embracing the spirit of the 20th National 

Congress of the Communist Party of China. It was a year defined by Maike Tube’s effective implementation 

of globalization, decarbonization, digitalization, and premiumization, showcasing our efforts in expanding 

and improving our high-quality development. Despite the challenges of shrinking foreign trade, mounting 

market pressure, and fluctuating prices of essential materials, our determination to advance remained 

unwavering. Guided by the objective to enhance our management capabilities, we closely aligned ourselves 

with market demands, streamlined production processes, optimized material management, and embraced 

environmentally friendly and intelligent practices. Through our unyielding efforts, we once again showcased 

our strength and demonstrated our value through exceptional performance.

Guided by the principles of “Digital” and fueled by the catalyst of “Innovation” for reform, we prioritize 

long-term strategies that uphold fundamental principles and break new ground, fostering marketing 

digitization and optimizing resource allocation with a bold and forward-thinking approach.

Through adopting the “data-driven” strategy, we have directed our attention towards key areas including 

procurement, production, sales, quality, safety, and environmental protection, while implementing platforms 

such as SRM, MES, Pipeline Exchange, and Cloud Inspection, to facilitate refined management during the 

process. These platforms enable us to collect and integrate data from multiple dimensions, empowering us 

to drive data-driven operations across the enterprise.

Driven by an unwavering commitment to “technology leadership”, Maike Tube has once again been 

recognized as a national high-tech enterprise, boasting two CNAS laboratories. In 2023, our research and 

development technicians developed over 50 specifications across 6 categories, securing 9 new patents and 

3 software copyrights. As of 31 December 2023, our valid intellectual property rights reached to 129. 

Throughout the year, we organized 16 technical innovation projects in Shandong Province, positioning us as 

a technology innovation demonstration enterprise within the region. In addition, we stood among the first 

enterprises to adopt the GB/T 3091 National Standard, reaffirming our commitment to high-quality 

development. Our efforts in the development of medium and high-temperature carbon steel welded pipe 

fittings project yielded successful results, as we delivered 2-4 inch STD and XS specification products to our 

customers. This achievement has laid a robust foundation for future production expansion efforts.
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Adhering to the principle of “boosting the sales with higher on-demand manufacturing capacity”, we 

capitalized on the connection between production and the market. Through a customer-centric approach, we 

analyzed and organized orders, coordinating production through digital intelligence. This enables us to 

formulate monthly rolling sales planning and make real-time adjustments to meet delivery requirements 

promptly. In 2023, we achieved a completion rate of 111.23% for manufacturing planning, with a 100% 

completion rate for key projects, ensuring a reliable and consistent supply.

We prioritized stability and progress in our operation to achieve the objective of “high-quality development”, 

and develop new quality productive forces through the consolidation, enhancement, supplement and 

extension of industrial chains and supply chains.

Focusing on the “strategy-driven” approaches, our market planning has yielded fruitful results. We have 

implemented a strategy that capitalizes on the potential domestic markets while refining our presence in the 

international steel pipe market. As for the domestic market, we launched 78 projects, resulting in a 

record-high production and sales volume of nearly 120,000 tons of spiral-welded pipes. On the international 

front, we have promoted new technologies and products, achieving an unprecedented sales volume of 

approximately 88,000 tons. We have made significant strides in advancing our industrial deployment. During 

the year, a variety of projects, including the welding pipe fittings projects, large-diameter 3PE anticorrosion 

production line construction projects, and Keqi Yongqing plant projects, reached investment and capacity 

levels on par with our previous achievements. These endeavours have propelled our industrial deployment 

forward and led to a steady improvement in our delivery capacity.

We have developed a specialized work plan to enhance our production efficiency by using “value-added” 

approaches. This plan includes setting distinct targets for different products, production lines, and 

production organizations. As part of this initiative, we have selected six production lines for pilot 

implementation, aiming to draw upon the experience to enhance the overall production capacity of our 

company. In pursuit of this goal, we have initiated labor competitions and proactively implemented internal 

benchmarking processes. These initiatives have yielded remarkable outcomes, as evidenced by the 

record-breaking production volumes achieved for 6 types of products across 3 categories. Furthermore, we 

have reduced the cost per ton of such products.

Under the principle of “cost reduction and efficiency enhancement”, we believe every cost can be minimized. 

We calculated costs before taking action and implemented a comprehensive cost control mechanism that 

involved every employee, all elements, and the entire process. Through the adoption of lean management 

practices, we focus on key areas such as procurement costs, energy and material consumption, inventory 

management, production outsourcing expenses, and equipment management. By using these practices to 

control and reduce costs, we ensure optimal efficiency throughout our operations.

Our achievement was attributed to the strong leadership and strategic deployment of the Board of Directors, 

the commitment to upholding fundamental principles and breaking new ground of our problem-solving 

management team, and the corporate spirit of “focusing on customers, being committed to quality, 

facilitating development with innovation, and achieving mutual benefits with cooperation” of all employees.



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

9ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Despite the challenges and obstacles encountered on the path to high-quality development, we remain 

steadfast in our commitment to progress. In 2024, while we anticipate internal challenges of sluggish 

demand and increasing complexity, severity, and uncertainty in the external environment, it is crucial to 

recognize the enduring trend of economic recovery and long-term improvement that remains unchanged. The 

new wave of technological and industrial reform has presented both opportunities and challenges. With 

unwavering confidence, determination, and capability, the Board of Directors will guide and inspire all 

employees to drive strategic implementation and pursue the high-quality development of globalization, 

decarbonization, digitalization, and premiumization. It is worth noting that throughout history, the greats have 

always worked hard on the road to innovation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

On behalf of our Group, I would like to thank all employees for their diligent hard work and incredible 

innovation in the past year. Meanwhile, I am also grateful to all clients, suppliers and shareholders for their 

strong support in the Group’s development. The Board is confident in the management team and their 

capabilities. We will maintain constant revolution and innovation in management to embrace the bright 

future. Today, Maike Tube has confidence in its strategies, procedures, and cultures, and the courage and 

strength to overcome different challenges without any fear. As the past and the future connect along with 

the coexistence of opportunities and challenges, we, standing at the starting point for new development, 

must work harder and smarter together as fighters with great ambition, to continue to the new chapter of 

Maike Tube’s development in a new era.

Chairman

GUO Lei

Pingyin County, Jinan, Shandong Province, China

22 March 2024
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Guo Lei（郭雷）, aged 45, is the Chairman, an executive Director of our Company. He joined our Group in 

October 2016 and was subsequently appointed as a director of Jinan Mech and the chairman of the board of 

directors of Jinan Ma Steel in November 2016. He was appointed as an executive Director in May 2019. He 

is primarily responsible for the day-to-day operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Guo has over 20 years of experience in the pipe and foundry industries. Prior to joining our Group, from 

November 1998 to October 2016, he served various positions in Meide, and his last position was deputy 

general manager, where he was responsible for overseeing the business of the management department, 

innovation department and IT department.

Mr. Guo graduated from Shandong Province Mechanical Industrial School*（山東省機械工業學校）(currently 

known as Shandong Jianzhu University（山東建築大學）), the PRC, with a thermal treatment of metal diploma 

in July 1998.

Wang Ning（王寧）, aged 47, is an executive Director and the deputy general manager of the Company . He 

is the chief of standard prefabricated pipe nipple products production of our Company. He joined our Group 

as a deputy factory manager for standard prefabricated pipe nipple products production and section chief of 

the production department of Jinan Mech in August 2018, where he was responsible for factory production 

and management. He then became a factory manager for standard prefabricated pipe nipple products and 

section chief of the production department in December 2018. He was appointed as our Group’s chief of 

standard prefabricated pipe nipple production in May 2019 and the deputy general manager of our Company 

in August 2023. He is primarily responsible for production management.

Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in pipe and foundry industries. Prior to joining our Group, he was 

a planning worker at Meide from November 1999 to July 2018, and his last position at Meide was a section 

chief of the production department, where he was responsible for pipe manufacturing and production work.

Mr. Wang graduated from Shandong Province Gongye School*（山東省機械工業學校）(currently known as 

Shandong Jianzhu University（山東建築大學）), the PRC, with a diploma in casting in July 1999.
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Yang Shufeng（楊書峰）, aged 52, is an executive Director. He joined Jinan Ma Steel since March 2002 and 

has been a sales manager since March 2008. He subsequently joined Jinan Mech in May 2013 and has been 

a deputy general manager since October 2015. He was appointed as an executive Director in May 2019. He 

is primarily responsible for overseeing sales and marketing team of our Group in the PRC.

Mr. Yang has over 10 years of experience in sales and marketing, pipe manufacturing and production 

management. Prior to joining our Group, he served at Meide as a marketing officer from May 1995 to March 

2002.

Mr. Yang graduated from Shandong TV University（山東廣播電視大學）, the PRC, with a bachelor’s degree in 

marketing in July 1995.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Zhao Xuelian（趙雪蓮）, aged 45, a non-executive Director, has been appointed as a non-executive Director 

with effect from March 2020.

Ms. Zhao has over 20 years of experience in accounting and finance. Ms. Zhao has been working in 

Shandong Zhongqi Real Estate Development Company Limited*（山東中齊房地產開發有限公司）(“Shandong 

Zhongqi”), a company primarily engaged in the development of real estates in the PRC, since September 

2000 and she is the financial controller of Shandong Zhongqi.

Ms. Zhao obtained her bachelor’s degree in accounting from the Open University of China（國家開放大學） 

(previously known as China Central Radio and TV University（中央廣播電視大學）) in January 2008.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Liu Fengyuan（劉鳳元）, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 November 

2019. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement on the operation and 

management to our Board. He has over 10 years of experience in finance education. He has been a 

professor specialising in financial regulations and a doctoral adviser at the School of International Finance 

and Laws of the East China University of Political Science and Law（華東政法大學）since February 2006. He 

also serves as an independent director of various companies listed on other stock exchanges:

Companies Stock Exchange Stock Code

Principal business 

in the PRC

Term of

appointment

成都孕嬰世界股份有限公司 National Equities 

Exchange and 

Quotations

874178 Sale of maternal and infant 

products and digital 

intelligent services

July 2022 to 

present

Ningbo Borine Electric Appliance 

Co., Ltd（寧波博菱電器股份有

限公司）

National Equities 

Exchange and 

Quotations

873083 Manufacturing and 

distribution of electric 

appliances

August 2017 to 

August 2023

Jingjin Environmental Protection 

Co Ltd 

（景津環保股份有限公司）

Shanghai Stock 

Exchange

603279 General contracting and 

operating service provider 

of environmental 

protection engineering

June 2016 to 

June 2021

Suzhou Kingswood Education 

Technology Co., Ltd.（蘇州科

德教育科技股份有限公司）

(formerly known as Suzhou 

Kingswood Printing Ink Co., 

Ltd（蘇州科斯伍德油墨股份有

限公司）)

Shenzhen Stock 

Exchange

300192 Manufacturing and sales of 

ink

September 2013 to 

October 2019

Shanghai Material Trading Co., 

Ltd（上海物資貿易股份有限公

司）

Shanghai Stock 

Exchange

600822 Developing, manufacturing 

and sales of smart 

identification terminals 

and industry application 

software

October 2014 to 

June 2020

Mr. Liu graduated from Chongqing Normal University（重慶師範大學）, the PRC, with a bachelor’s degree in 

mathematics education in July 1994. He received his master’s degree in science from Yunan University（雲南

大學）, the PRC, in July 1997 and obtained his doctoral degree in business administration (management) 

from Shanghai Jiao Tong University（上海交通大學）, the PRC, in October 2005.



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

13ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Ding Xiaodong（丁曉東）, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 19 

November 2019. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement on the 

operation and management to our Board. He has over 20 years of experience in accounting and finance 

education. He has been teaching at the Shandong University of Finance（山東財經學院）(currently known as 

Shandong University of Finance and Economics（山東財經大學）) since June 1988, and his current position is 

an associate professor in accounting. He served/is currently serving as an independent director of various 

companies listed on other stock exchanges:

Companies Stock Exchange Stock Code

Principal business 

in the PRC

Term of 

appointment

成都孕嬰世界股份有限公司 National Equities 

Exchange and 

Quotations

874178 Sale of maternal and 

infant products and 

digital intelligent 

services

July 2022 to 

present

Ningbo Borine Electric 

Appliance Co., Ltd（寧波

博菱電器股份有限公司）

National Equities 

Exchange and 

Quotations

873083 Manufacturing and 

distribution of electric 

appliances

August 2017 to 

August 2023

Huilu Ecological 

Technology Group Co., 

Ltd.*（匯綠生態科技集團

股份有限公司）

National Equities 

Exchange and 

Quotations

400038 Landscape planning 

and environmental 

protection

December 2014 

to December 

2020

Qingdao Hiron Commercial 

Cold Chain Co., Ltd 

（青島海容商用冷鏈股份 

有限公司）

Shanghai Stock 

Exchange

603187 Research and 

development, 

production, sale, and 

service of commercial 

cold chain equipment

June 2015 to 

June 2018

Mr. Ding has also been serving as a supervisor of Qingdao Hiron Commercial Cold Chain Co., Ltd （青島海容

商用冷鏈股份有限公司）, a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since 11 

November 2021.

Mr. Ding graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics（中央財經大學）, the PRC with a 

bachelor’s degree in Economics in June 1988 and received his master’s degree in management from the 

Dongbei University of Finance and Economics（東北財經大學）, the PRC in June 1999.
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Sun Yongxi（孫永喜）, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29 June 2023.

Mr. Sun has over 50 years of experience in the steel pipe industry. Prior to joining the Group, he has been 

the head of the expert committee of Shanghai Steel Pipe Industry Association*（上海鋼管行業協會）since 

May 2016. He was a general manager at Shanghai Yueyuechao Steel Tube Group Co., Ltd.*（上海月月潮鋼管

集團有限公司）from January 2008 to May 2016. He served as a marketing director at Shanghai Zhongyou 

Tianbao Group*（上海中油天寶集團）from January 2006 to January 2008. He was a general manager at 

Shanghai Allison Steel Tube Co., Ltd.*（上海埃力生鋼管有限公司）from October 1996 to December 2005. He 

served as the head of welded pipe workshop and branch manager at Shanghai Steel Pipe Factory*（上海鋼管

廠）during the period from January 1981 to October 1996. He also worked for the factory from 1968 to 

November 1977.

Mr. Sun graduated from Shanghai Metallurgical College*（上海冶金專科學校）in electrical automation in 

January 1981.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management team is responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of our business. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the members of our senior management team:

Name Age

Position at 

our Company

Date of joining 

our Group

Roles and 

responsibilities in 

our Group

Relationship with 

other Director(s) 

and the senior 

management

Zhou Zhiwei（周志偉） 45 Chief Executive Officer 1 August 2023 Overall management of 

the daily operation of 

our Group

N/A 

Tian Mingze（田明澤） 52 Chief of SSAW steel 

pipe production 

general manager of 

Vietnam Piping

19 November 2016  Production management 

at Jinan Ma Steel

N/A

Zhang Ping（張平） 40 Deputy general manager 

(Overseas sales)

16 October 2016 Overseas sales of our 

Group

N/A

Liu Minghuai（劉明懷） 48 Deputy general manager 

(Finance)

1 March 2017 Overall management of 

the financial affairs of 

our Group

N/A
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Zhou Zhiwei（周志偉）, aged 45, is the CEO with effect from 1 August 2023. Prior to joining the Group, he 

worked as the dean of Meide College at Meide Group Limited*（玫德集團有限公司）from April 2022 to July 

2023. He served in Double Star Group Co., Ltd.*（雙星集團有限責任公司）and Qingdao Double Star Co., Ltd.*

（青島雙星股份有限公司）respectively as the secretary of the party, general manager and manager of large 

project office from April 2019 to March 2022 and as deputy general manager of PCR division from February 

2019 to April 2019. He served as the general manager in Qingdao Kaishi Rubber Track Co., Ltd.*（青島開世

橡膠履帶有限公司）from January 2015 to December 2018. During the period from September 2016 to 

December 2018, he also served as the secretary of the party branch and general manager of Qingdao Kaishi 

Sealing Industry Co., Ltd.*（青島開世密封工業有限公司）. He served as the general manager in Qingdao 

Tianfa Lighting Technology Co., Ltd.*（青島天發光電科技有限公司）from August 2011 to May 2014.

Mr. Zhou worked as the project manager in Qingdao Household Appliance Technology Equipment Research 

Institute*（青島家電工藝裝備研究所）from October 2005 to July 2007. He served as the head of quality 

control department in Haier Group Corporation*（海爾集團公司）from August 2001 to October 2005 and also 

worked at other associated companies of Haier Group Corporation as the general manager from July 2007 to 

May 2010.

Mr. Zhou graduated from Tianjing University*（天津大學）in Chemical Equipment and Machinery in June 2001.

Tian Mingze（田明澤）, aged 52, is the chief of SSAW steel pipe production and the general manager of 

Vietnam Piping of our Group. Mr. Tian began his career at Jinan Ma Steel as a procurement clerk in 

November 2001. He became the head of procurement and section chief of various departments at Jinan Ma 

Steel between 2001 to 2018. He joined our Group upon completion of the acquisition of Jinan Ma Steel in 

November 2016. He has been serving as the general manager and director of Jinan Ma Steel between 2018 

to 2022. He was appointed as the chief of SSAW steel pipe production of our Group in May 2019 and the 

general manager of Vietnam Piping in January 2023, he is responsible for production management at Jinan 

Ma Steel.

Mr. Tian has approximately 25 years of experience in pipe and foundry industries. Prior to joining our Group, 

he worked at Meide, and his last position was a sales representative from July 1994 to October 2011, where 

he was responsible for the sales of Meide’s products.

Mr. Tian graduated from the Shandong Province Gongye School*（山東省機械工業學校）(currently known as 

Shandong Jianzhu University（山東建築大學）), the PRC, with a diploma in mechanical manufacturing in July 

1994.
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Zhang Ping（張平）, aged 40, is a deputy general manager (overseas sales) of our Company. He joined our 

Group as a general manager’s assistant of Jinan Mech in November 2016 and subsequently became a 

deputy general manager in December 2018, where he was responsible for the sales and operation of the 

overseas market. He was appointed as our Group’s deputy general manager (overseas sales) in May 2019 

and he is responsible for the overseas sales of our Group.

Mr. Zhang has over 10 years of experience in overseas sales management. Prior to joining our Group, from 

September 2005 to November 2016, he worked in the import and export department of Meide as an officer, 

and his last position was a general manager of the import and export department where he is responsible, 

for Meide’s overseas marketing.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shandong Economics University*（山東經濟學院）(currently known as University of 

Finance and Economics（山東財經大學）), the PRC, with a bachelor’s degree in international economics and 

trade in July 2004.

Liu Minghuai（劉明懷）, aged 48, is the deputy general manager (finance) of our Company. He joined our 

Group as the financial director and the board’s secretary of Jinan Mech in March 2017, where he was 

responsible for overseeing the our Group’s financial and accounting management. He was appointed as our 

Group’s deputy general manager (finance) in May 2019 and is primarily responsible for the overall 

management of the financial affairs of our Group.

Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in financial planning and management. Prior to joining our Group, 

from July 1999 to February 2017, he was the chief accountant and secretary to the board of (i) CNPC Jichai 

Power Equipment Company（中國石油集團濟柴動力有限公司）, a company based in the PRC that develops, 

manufactures, and markets internal combustion engines, and (ii) Jinan Diesel Engine Company Ltd（濟南柴油

股份有限公司）(currently known as CNPC Capital Company Limited（中國石油集團資本有限公司）), a 

company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000617), that principally engages in banking, 

financial leasing, trust and insurance businesses, where he was responsible for managing its financial affairs.

Mr. Liu graduated from Xi’an Shiyou University（西安石油大學）, the PRC, with a bachelor’s degree in 

accounting in July 1999.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Leung Wing Lun（梁穎麟）, aged 42, was appointed as the company secretary of our Company on 2 April 

2019. He has over 19 years of experience in providing professional corporate services. From July 2004 to 

August 2005, he worked as an assistant accountant in Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (a company listed 

on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2320), where he was responsible for its day-to-day accounting duties. 

From September 2005 to March 2006, he worked as a contracted assistant taxation officer at the Inland 

Revenue Department in Hong Kong, where he was responsible for initial tax assessment. From March 2006 

to July 2011, he worked as a tax consultant at Thomas Lee & Partners Ltd, where he was responsible for 

accounting and taxation business advisory. In November 2010, he founded Superior Alliance Group 

Company Limited and he has been a director since then, where he was responsible for taxation advisory and 

company secretarial service. He is currently the company secretary of Da Sen Holdings Group Limited (stock 

code: 1580), a company listed on the Stock Exchange principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of 

plywood and biomass wood pellets, and has been the company secretary of Hang Yick Holdings Company 

Limited (stock code: 1894), a company listed on the Stock Exchange specialising in design, manufacture, 

supply and installation of steel and metal products for construction projects in Hong Kong from May 2018 to 

March 2021.

Mr. Leung graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business 

administration majoring in accounting in November 2004. He has been a Hong Kong Certified Public 

Accountant since February 2010.

Save as disclosed above, there was no relationship among each of the Directors and senior management at 

the date of this annual report.

CHANGE TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, where there is a change in any of the information required to 

be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) during the course of the director’s, 

supervisor’s or chief executive’s term of office, the issuer must ensure that the change and the updated 

information regarding the director, supervisor or chief executive is set out in the next published annual or 

interim report of the listed issuer (whichever is the earlier).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no change in the Directors’ information required to be 

disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group primarily engages in (i) the manufacturing and sales of standard prefabricated pipe nipple 

products; (ii) the manufacturing and sales of steel pipe products; and (iii) the design and supply of 

assembled piping systems. We also conducted sales of raw materials that were procured from the suppliers 

and left unused, including steel coils.

The standard prefabricated pipe nipple products of the Group are used in pipe system to connect straight 

pipes or pipe sections, which can be adjusted to different sizes or shapes. Standard prefabricated pipe 

nipple products and steel pipes products feature different specifications, such as length, outside diameter 

and surface treatment, which cater for various needs of the Group’s customers and comply with international 

standards. We directly or indirectly sold most of our standard prefabricated pipe nipple products and 

customized steel pipe products to overseas markets. Our welded steel pipe products are roughly classified 

into standard ERW steel pipes and SSAW steel pipes. Our Group has received certifications in quality control 

including, among other things, the ISO9001 certification, ISO14001 certification and OHSAS18001 

certification. Our products are widely applied in the municipal pipeline system designed for natural gas, 

water supply, sewage, HVAC and fire extinguish water pipes. Leveraging our industry knowledge and 

expertise, we also design and supply assembled piping system for our customers, who would seek technical 

advice or suggestions on the design and/or engineering solutions for their desired assembled piping systems 

through building information modeling and three-dimension design system to minimize wastage of material 

and improve efficiency, thus reducing production costs.

During the reporting period, the domestic economy has been recovering, while the overseas market was 

confronted with the economic decoupling from the West and the geopolitical wars in the first half of the year. 

In spite of the unsettling landscape, the Group, led by the Board, capitalized on its advantages in the sharing 

of market resources and technological research and development, and conducted deployment of improving 

our management strategies for the year, and thus our employees were able to navigate challenging 

circumstances and devote their efforts to innovation. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group 

recorded revenue of approximately RMB2,190.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 4.0%, and 

achieved an accumulated net profit of approximately RMB152.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase 

of 10.1%.

NEW ORDERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received new orders for approximately 18,000 tons of 

standard prefabricated pipe products, of which approximately 99.3% were from overseas customers; we 

also received new orders for approximately 250,000 tons of steel pipe products, of which approximately 

66.8% were from domestic customers. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had delivered 

approximately 16,100 tons of standard prefabricated pipe products and approximately 243,500 tons of steel 

pipe products.
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STANDARD PREFABRICATED PIPE PRODUCTS

The standard prefabricated pipe products are our key competitive products. For the year ended 31 

December 2023, our revenue from standard prefabricated pipe products amounted to approximately 

RMB308.8 million, accounting for 14.1% of the total revenue of the Group; for the year ended 31 December 

2022, our revenue from standard prefabricated pipe products amounted to approximately RMB412.8 million, 

accounting for 19.6% of the total revenue of the Group. The revenue of standard fabricated pipe products 

decreased by 25.2% as compared to the corresponding period last year, due to a decline in sales volume.

STEEL PIPE PRODUCTS

Our steel pipe products are made through rolling steel plate and welding the seam, and are mainly used for 

gas, water supply, HVAC and fire extinguishment. In order to meet the personal demand of customers, the 

Group produced standard steel pipes with value-added processes under customised requirements of 

customers, including but not limited to pipe body processing, non-standardised surface treatment, pipe end 

processing, thickened galvanisation, and internal smoothing. For the year ended 31 December 2023, our 

ERW steel pipes, SSAW steel pipes and customised steel pipes recorded revenues of approximately 

RMB372.7 million, RMB605.0 million and RMB270.2 million, respectively, representing a year-on-year 

decrease of 0.3% for ERW steel pipes, and a year-on-year increase of 26.7% and 2.6% for SSAW steel 

pipes and customised steel pipes as compared to the same period in 2022, respectively. The decrease in 

ERW steel pipes was mainly due to a decrease in raw material and product prices, while the increase in 

SSAW steel pipes and customised steel pipes was mainly due to the increase in sales volume. The total 

revenue generated from steel pipe products accounted for approximately 57.0% of the total revenue for the 

year ended 31 December 2023.

DESIGN AND SUPPLY OF ASSEMBLED PIPING SYSTEM

Leveraging our industry experience, we are able to design and supply assembled piping systems to our 

customers to satisfy various physical and functional characteristics of our customers’ designated sites. For 

the year ended 31 December 2023, our design and supply of assembled piping system recorded the revenue 

of approximately RMB33.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 21.5% as 

compared to the same period in 2022. The increase was mainly due to an increase in the delivery of orders 

to our customers, accounting for approximately 1.5% of the total revenue for the year ended 31 December 

2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s revenue is generated from (i) sales of standard prefabricated pipe products; (ii) sales of steel 

pipe products; (iii) sales of the design and supply of assembled piping systems; and (iv) sales of steel coils 

that were left unused and procured from its suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our total revenue was approximately RMB2,190.9 million, 

representing an increase of approximately RMB83.7 million or 4.0% as compared to the year ended 31 

December 2022. The increase in revenue was mainly due to an increase in the sales volume of SSAW steel 

pipes.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED20

Sales by product categories

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue, sales volume, ASP by product categories for 

the periods indicated:

2023

Revenue Sales volume ASP

RMB’000 % of total ton’000 RMB/ton

Standard prefabricated pipe nipples 308,794 14.1% 16.1 19,180

Steel pipe products

ERW steel pipes 372,668 17.0% 74.2 5,022

SSAW steel pipes 604,972 27.6% 119.6 5,058

Customised steel pipes 270,164 12.4% 49.7 5,436

Design and supply of assembled piping 

system 33,163 1.5% N/A N/A

Trading of steel coils 600,523 27.4% 169.1 3,551

Others 658 0.0% N/A N/A

Total 2,190,942 100.0% 428.7 5,111

2022

Revenue Sales volume ASP

RMB’000 % of total ton’000 RMB/ton

Standard prefabricated pipe nipples 412,845 19.6% 21.1 19,566

Steel pipe products

ERW steel pipes 373,970 17.7% 67.0 5,582

SSAW steel pipes 477,645 22.7% 90.7 5,266

Customised steel pipes 263,410 12.5% 41.9 6,287

Design and supply of assembled piping 

system 27,290 1.3% N/A N/A

Steel coils trade 551,690 26.2% 141.9 3,888

Others 440 0.0% N/A N/A

Total 2,107,290 100.0% 362.6 5,812
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The revenue generated from sales of standard prefabricated pipe products amounted to approximately 

RMB308.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 

RMB104.1 million or 25.2% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the 

decrease in sales volume.

The revenue generated from ERW steel pipes decreased by approximately RMB1.3 million or 0.3% from the 

year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB372.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, 

which was mainly due to the decrease in average selling price of products; the revenue generated from 

SSAW steel pipes increased by approximately RMB127.3 million or 26.7% from the year ended 31 December 

2022 to approximately RMB605.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the 

growth in sales volume; the revenue generated from customised steel pipes increased by approximately 

RMB6.8 million or 2.6% from the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB270.2 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2023.

The revenue generated from design and supply of assembled piping system increased by approximately 

RMB5.9 million or 21.5% from approximately RMB27.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB33.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to the 

increase in the delivery of orders to our customers.

The revenue generated from steel coils increased by approximately RMB48.8 million or 8.9% for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB600.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly 

due to the increase in sales volume.
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Sales by geographical regions

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by geographical regions of our products for the 

periods indicated:

2023 2022

Revenue

% of total 

revenue Revenue

% of total 

revenue

RMB’000 RMB’000

Domestic market

PRC 1,451,736 66.3% 1,303,618 61.9%

Overseas markets

The United States 227,723 10.4% 315,227 15.0%

Other countries in Americas (excluding 

the United States) 136,928 6.3% 111,564 5.2%

Other countries in Asia (excluding the 

PRC) 311,753 14.2% 282,141 13.4%

Europe 29,249 1.3% 43,043 2.0%

Others 33,553 1.5% 51,697 2.5%

Total 2,190,942 100.0% 2,107,290 100.0%

Note:	 Other countries in Americas (excluding the United States) comprise the continents of North and South America; 
others mainly include Oceania and Africa.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit decreased by approximately 1.9% or RMB7.4 million from approximately RMB390.9 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB383.5 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023. Such a decrease was mainly attributable to the decline in sales volume of standard prefabricated pipe 

products. Gross profit margin decreased by 1.1% compared to the same period last year.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income mainly represents government grant and interest 

income, which increased from approximately RMB4.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 by 

approximately 120.5% or RMB5.3 million to approximately RMB9.7 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023. The increase in other income was mainly due to the increase in government grant by approximately 

RMB3.9 million, and the increase in bank interests by RMB1.4 million.
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other gains and losses mainly represent gains on sales of scrap 

materials, fair value gains on structured bank deposits, fair value losses on foreign currency forward 

contracts, fair value gains on derivative financial instruments and net exchange gains. Other gains and 

losses for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased by approximately 59% to approximately RMB6.3 

million (2022: RMB15.2 million) as compared with the corresponding period in 2022. Changes in other gains 

and losses were mainly attributable to gains on sales of scrap materials of approximately RMB8.6 million as 

compared to the gains on scrap of RMB10.3 million in the same period of last year; fair value gains of 

approximately RMB0.4 million on derivative financial instrument in 2023 as compared to the gains of 

approximately RMB1.3 million in the same period of 2022; and gains from foreign exchange of approximately 

RMB1.2 million in 2023 as compared to the gains of approximately RMB10.7 million in the same period of 

2022.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

Distribution and selling expenses decreased from approximately RMB116.6 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 by approximately 25.3% or RMB29.5 million to approximately RMB87.1 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to (i) the decrease in transportation costs; and (ii) the 

decrease in business expenses.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses increased from approximately RMB53.8 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022 by approximately 10.0% or RMB5.4 million to approximately RMB59.2 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023, which was primarily due to the increase in compensation of management staff.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The cost of research and development decreased from approximately RMB76.4 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 by approximately 11.0% or RMB8.4 million to approximately RMB68.0 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023. Our research and development costs accounted for approximately 3.1% of the 

total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (corresponding period in 2022: approximately 3.6%).

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

The impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal amounted to approximately RMB5.1 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (corresponding period in 2022: approximately RMB5.1 million), 

which was mainly due to the increase in the Company’s receivables.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED24

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased from approximately RMB5.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 by 

approximately 26.4% or RMB1.4 million to approximately RMB6.7 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023, which was primarily due to an increase in discounted notes.

TAXATION CHARGE

Taxation charge increased from RMB14.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB20.5 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year increased by approximately 10.2% or RMB14.1 million from RMB138.8 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 to RMB152.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due 

to the increase in sales volume of SSAW steel pipes.

Capital structure, liquidity and financial resources

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (20,389) 177,848

Net cash used in investing activities (180,755) (74,604)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 214,545 (136,089)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,401 (32,845)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 57,760 86,548

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 782 4,057

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 71,943 57,760

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated based on the total interest-bearing debts 

divided by the total equity of the Company as at the respective period and multiplied by 100%, was 

approximately 3.7% (31 December 2022: approximately 8%). As at 31 December 2023, our total 

interest-bearing debts amounted to RMB38.4 million. The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily attributable 

to the decrease in bank loans.
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NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Our net cash (used in) generated from operating activities decreased from a net inflow of approximately 

RMB177.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to a net outflow of approximately RMB20.4 million 

in for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in net cash (used in) generated from operating 

activities was mainly due to an increase in trade receivables.

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Our net cash from investing activities changed from a net outflow of approximately RMB74.6 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2022 to a net outflow of approximately RMB180.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023. The change in net cash was primarily due to the increase in guarantee deposits for the 

issuance of bank acceptances.

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Our net cash from financing activities changed from a net outflow of approximately RMB136.1 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2022 to a net inflow of approximately RMB214.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023. The change in net cash generated from financing activities was primarily due to the 

proceeds from discounted bills.

NET CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Inventories

Our balance of inventories increased by approximately RMB30.5 million or 12.2% from approximately 

RMB249.5 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB280.0 million as at 31 December 2023, 

which was mainly driven by the sufficient orders for steel pipe products, completed orders without shipping 

and the increase in steel coils, raw materials and inventories.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND TRADE RECEIVABLES BACKED BY BILLS

Our trade receivables increased by approximately RMB198.8 million or 58.5% from approximately RMB340.1 

million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB538.9 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to 

the increase in sales of SSAW steel pipes during the period and trade receivables being not yet due for 

payment.

Our trade receivables backed by bills decreased by approximately RMB0.8 million or 6.7% from 

approximately RMB12.0 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB11.2 million as at 31 

December 2023, mainly due to outstanding of bank bills received.
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CONTRACT ASSETS

Our contract assets decreased from approximately RMB26.9 mill ion as of 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB20.8 million as of 31 December 2023, mainly due to the decrease in retention receivables 

on sales of pipe products.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Our deposits, prepayments and other receivables increased from approximately RMB121.4 million as at 31 

December 2022 to approximately RMB146.6 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the increase in 

prepayment for raw materials.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES

Amounts due from related parties increased from approximately RMB7.3 million as at 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB17.8 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the trade receivables at the end of 

the reporting period.

Amounts due to related parties decreased from approximately RMB4.8 million as at 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB2.5 million as at 31 December 2023.

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

Our trade and bill payables increased from approximately RMB90.7 million as of 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB415.2 million as of 31 December 2023, mainly due to an increase in bill payables.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Our contract liabilities increased from approximately RMB41.8 million as of 31 December 2022 to RMB60.8 

million as of 31 December 2023, which was related to the timing of delivery of products to our customers.

REFUND LIABILITIES

Our refund liabilities decreased from approximately RMB10.6 million as of 31 December 2022 to 

approximately RMB5.3 million as of 31 December 2023, primarily due to the settlement of liabilities.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Our other payables and accrued charges increased from approximately RMB81.3 million as of 31 December 

2022 to approximately RMB84.6 million as of 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the increase in 

other payables and accrued charges.
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PROVISIONS

Our provisions increased from approximately RMB2.2 million as of 31 December 2022 to approximately 

RMB3.1 million as of 31 December 2023. Provisions represent warranty provided for our sold products.

BORROWINGS

Our borrowings decreased from approximately RMB75.9 million as of 31 December 2022 to approximately 

RMB38.4 million as of 31 December 2023, mainly due to an decrease in bank loans. The Group’s borrowing 

of approximately RMB38.4 million as at 31 December 2023 was repayable within one year.

LEASE LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2023, the Group rented two properties in PRC as its warehouses and the lease liabilities 

were measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid. We recorded lease liabilities 

of approximately RMB4.6 million.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

A substantial majority of our assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for the following items:

(i)	 certain bank balances are denominated in USD, HKD, VND and THB;

(ii)	 sales of goods to overseas customers and related trade receivables are denominated in USD.

The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against USD or HKD or VND or THB may have an impact on the 

financial performance of the Group. The Group mainly manages potential fluctuations in foreign exchange 

through foreign currency forward contracts, and it has not entered into any hedging transactions.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD12 cents per ordinary share of the 

Company issued (approximately HKD52,056,000 in aggregate) for the year ended 31 December 2023 in cash 

(2022: HKD10 cents).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, our Group pledged certain property, plant, equipment, right-of-use assets, trade 

receivables backed by bills and pledged bank deposits with the total net carrying amount of approximately 

RMB263.1 million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB130.5 million) to secure banking facilities granted 

to the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE GROUP, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no significant investments held by the Group, and the 

Company had no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have any other plans for material investments or 

capital assets during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, labour costs (including Directors’ remunerations and emoluments in 

other forms) were approximately RMB118.9 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB106.1 

million). Our Group’s employees are generally remunerated by way of fixed salary, and commission will be 

awarded to our marketing staff if they have achieved certain sales targets. The Group utilises an appraisal 

system for our employees and considers the appraisal results of individual employees when conducting their 

salary reviews, making promotion decisions and determining the amount of bonuses. Our Group’s employees 

are also entitled to a performance-based bonus, paid leave and various subsidies. As the Group believes 

that nurturing outstanding employees is particularly important for the development of enterprises, it provides 

employees with sufficient training to ensure that they can carry out their work safely and with due diligence. 

Employees in different positions are provided with various training and development programmes related to 

their necessary skills and knowledge.

As of 31 December 2023, we had 1,070 employees (31 December 2022: 1,067 employees), 911 of whom are 

in the PRC (including Hong Kong), 89 of whom work in Vietnam, and 70 of whom work in Thailand. A 

breakdown of our employees by functions is set forth below:

Function As of 31 December 2023

China (including 
Hong Kong) Vietnam Thailand

Managerial, administrative and accounts 85 7 10
Production 506 75 59
Quality control 37 5 1
Procurement and inventory 32 2 –
Research and development 127 – –
Sales and marketing 124 – –

Total number of employees 911 89 70
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed, there were no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2023 which would materially 

affect the Group’s operating and financial performance as of the date of this annual report.

PROSPECTS

In 2023, China has embarked on the path to post-epidemic recovery, witnessing a domestic economy that 

demonstrated resilience and robust growth, and yet certain challenges have persisted. The lack of 

consumption momentum, along with a substantial downturn in real estate investment and industry demand, 

hampered the full potential of the domestic market. Meanwhile, the external landscape remained complex 

and volatile, marked by geopolitical conflicts and regional hot wars, while the U.S. Federal Reserve’s 

decision to raise and maintain interest rates at elevated levels escalated the risk of a global economic 

downturn. In 2024, the implementation of counter-cyclical and cross-cyclical fiscal policies will persist, with 

a strong emphasis on leveraging infrastructure as a catalyst for economic support. Despite an expected rise 

in the deficit rate to approximately 3.5%, as outlined in the Report on the Work of the Government, the 

government is adopting an assertive spending approach. In 2024, the issuance of new local government 

special bonds will adopt to reach approximately RMB4 trillion, enabling over RMB1 trillion of additional 

capital to be invested in sectors including economic construction, steel structures, and infrastructure 

projects such as pipeline networks, guardrails, and long-distance pipelines for water conservancy, electricity, 

and oil and gas. These investments will serve to stimulate demand within these industries. Supported by 

counter-cyclical fiscal policies, the industry’s demand is expected to remain resilient.

Based on current situation, the Group will strengthen its own capacity building. It will adopt the following 

strategies to realize sustainable growth, further enhance its position in the pipe prefabrication industry, and 

create long-term value for the Shareholders: (1) to perfect the overseas sales management while targeting 

new products and customers; (2) to strengthen the domestic sales system with a focus on making stable 

growth; (3) to fully apply the Pipeline Exchange to improve the sales management; (4) to conduct product 

research and development to meet the demand, and enhance our brand image through building a platform; 

(5) to address the operation difficulties in terms of management and execution; (6) to refine the procurement 

business management and implement multi-measures to create more benefits; (7) to set a benchmark for 

continuous innovation and development, aiming to increase overall efficiency and quality while reducing 

cost; (8) to accelerate turnover while tapping potential and increasing efficiency by focusing on the inventory 

management; and (9) to enhance employees’ capabilities by strengthening team building initiatives.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Our management has designed and implemented a risk management policy to address various potential 

risks identified in relation to the operation of our businesses, including strategic, operational, financial and 

legal risks. Our risk management policy sets forth procedures to identify, analyse, categorise, mitigate and 

monitor various risks. Our Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk management system and 

assessing and updating our risk management policy on a quarterly basis. Our risk management policy also 

sets forth the reporting hierarchy of risks identified in our operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The major pollutants generated by the Group in the manufacturing process include various kinds of exhaust 

gas and wastewater which could be harmful to human body. We comply with Chinese, Vietnamese and Thai 

environmental laws and regulations promulgated by national and local governments. During the reporting 

period, we made significant strides in enhancing our environmental protection management through the 

utilization of digital tools. By implementing the online operation of the environmental risk cloud inspection 

system, we achieved 100% coverage and timely rectification of environmental issues by conducting online 

control of all environmental risks. This proactive approach greatly improved our ability to promptly detect 

environmental risks and carry out necessary rectifications. Meanwhile, through the implementation of the 

DCS environmental protection system, we achieved real-time monitoring of pollutant concentrations in 

exhaust emissions, ensuring compliance with acceptable limits, while also capturing data on operation time 

and total power consumption and other information, mitigating the risk of exceeding emission limits. 

Furthermore, our adoption of digital means enabled us to exercise control over reclaimed water pressure and 

monitor its consumption at each reclaimed point. This allowed us to track reclaimed water usage, preventing 

water resource wastage.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present this directors’ report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
mainly engaged in the manufacturing of steel pipe products and the prefabricated pipe nipple products. 
Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in note 41 of the consolidated financial statements of the Group in 
this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the discussion on the 
Group’s future business development are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” in this annual report. The description key financial performance indicators are set out in the section 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 30 of this annual report. The details of the 
description of principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are disclosed in note 38 and 39 of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers

The Group’s success also depends on the support from key stakeholders which comprise employees, 
customers and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human 
resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration 
package and implementing performance appraisal system, and to promote career development and 
progression by offering training and providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

Customers

The Group’s customers mainly include gas and HVAC companies, water supply companies, infrastructure 
and construction companies, wholesalers and distributors which on-sell our products to their own 
customers. The Group provides professional and quality services whilst maintaining long term profitability 
and business growth.

Suppliers

We firmly believe that our suppliers are equally important in cost control and increasing our bargaining power 
on procurement of materials, which further secures our competitive position. We proactively communicate 
with suppliers to ensure they are committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material dispute or disagreement between the 
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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Regulatory and legal compliance

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and risks of 
non-compliance with such requirements. So far as the Directors is aware, the Group has complied in all 
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on the business of the 
Group.

RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income on page 63 of this annual report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD12 cents per ordinary share of the 
Company issued (approximately HKD52,056,000 in aggregate) for the year ended 31 December 2023 in cash 
(2022: HKD10 cents).

The proposed dividend payment is subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 
forthcoming AGM to be held on 31 May 2024 and will be payable around 8 July 2024 in HKD.

Upon shareholders’ approval, the proposed final dividend will be paid to ordinary shareholders whose names 
shall appear on the register of members of the Company on 17 June 2024.

The Company did not declare interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the following periods:

i)	 From Friday, 24 May 2024 to Friday, 31 May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer 
of Shares will be registered. In order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to 
attend and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share 
cert i f icates have to be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 
Thursday, 23 May 2024.

ii)	 From Friday, 14 June 2024 to Monday, 17 June 2024, both days inclusive, for the purpose of 
ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements 
to the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates have to be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 June 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately HKD224.4 million (RMB201.8 million) through the 
global offering upon the Listing. After deducting the listing expenses, the net proceeds amounted to 
approximately HKD183.6 million (RMB166.4 million). Such net proceeds are intended to be applied in the 
same manner and the same proportion as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of 
Proceeds” of the Prospectus.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the global offering had been applied as follows:

Percentage
of total net

proceeds
from the

Global
Offering

Planned
use of net
proceeds 
from the

Global
Offering

Remaining
net 

proceeds
as at

31 December
2022

Actual use
of proceeds

for the 
year ended 

31 December
2023

Remaining
net proceeds

as at 
31 December

2023

Expected 
timeline of full 
utilisation of the 
remaining 
proceeds from 
the Global
Offering as at
31 December
2023

RMB$’000 RMB$’000 RMB$’000 RMB$’000

Increasing our production  
capacity of our production  
of ERW steel pipes

19.0% 31,625 — — — —

Upgrading one of the SSAW steel 
pipes production line

22.3% 37,118 — — — —

Setting up a new production  
facilities building

9.4% 15,646 — — — —

Expanding to overseas to increase 
the production capacity

9.4% 15,646 4,787 4,787 — —

Expanding our business horizontally 
through acquisition/collaboration

10.0% 16,645 — — — —

Strengthen research and 
development capabilities

10.0% 16,645 — — — —

Repayment of borrowings 10.0% 16,645 — — — —
General working capital 9.9% 16,478 — — — —

100% 166,448 4,787 4,787 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Listing has been fully utillised and there 

was no material change or delay in the use of proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set 

out on page 140 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made charitable donations amounted is nil (2022: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out 

in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALES OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of Cayman Islands which would 

oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with 

the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted 

to approximately RMB165,321,000.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders of the Company by reason of 

their holdings of Company’s shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Lei (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Ning

Mr. Yang Shufeng

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhao Xuelian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Fengyuan

Mr. Ding Xiaodong

Mr. Sun Yongxi	 (Appointed on 29 June 2023)

Mr. Ma Changcheng	 (Resigned on 1 April 2023)

In accordance with the Articles, Ms. Zhao Xuelian, Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun Yongxi will retire by 

rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming general meeting.

Save as disclosed in this report, to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having 

made all reasonable enquiries, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of the Directors 

that needs to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders and there was no information relating to the 

Directors that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the date of this 

report.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmations from Mr. Liu Fengyuan, Mr. Ding Xiaodong and 

Mr. Sun Yongxi in respect of their independence in accordance with the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of 

the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Further, the Company will appoint a sufficient number of independent non-executive directors to meet the 

minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1) or 3.10A of the Listing Rules or appoint an independent 

non-executive director to meet the requirement set out in Rule 3.10(2) Listing Rules within three months after 

failing to meet the requirements.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 10 to 17 

of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company and each of the 

independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive Director have signed an appointment letter with 

the Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts and the letters of appointment are (i) for an 

fixed term of three years, and (ii) are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms. All 

Directors were appointed for a fixed period but subject to retirement from office and re-election at the annual 

general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group has a total of 1,070 employees (31 December 2022: 1,067 employees), 911 of whom are in the 

PRC (including Hong Kong), 89 of whom work in Vietnam, and 70 of whom work in Thailand. The total 

salaries and related costs granted to employees amounted to approximately RMB118.9 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023. The remuneration packages of employees are determined based on their 

qualifications, position and experience. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess the 

performance of its employees, which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses 

and promotion.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon the recommendation from the Remuneration 

Committee after considering the relevant Director’s qualifications, experience, responsibilities, duties and 

performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 7 to the 

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other long-term incentive schemes of the Group at the date of this 

report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors or 

Controlling Shareholders, nor a connected party of any Directors or Controlling Shareholders, had a material 

interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the 

business of the Group to which the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the 

year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the Year, none of the Directors was interested in any business which competed or was likely to 

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

There were no arrangements to which the Company, its subsidiaries, its holding company or its holding 

company’s subsidiaries was a party to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 

of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected transactions and connected transactions, 

certain details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules.

Products supply framework agreement

Mr. Kong Linglei is one of the Controlling Shareholder and thus a connected person of the Company as 

defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Kong wholly owns Ningbo Ming De Heng Sheng 

Investment Limited（寧波明德恒生投資有限公司）, a company established under the laws of the PRC, which 

in turn owns 35.49% of Meide Group Co., Ltd. (玫德集團有限公司) (“Meide” or “Meide Group”). Mr. Kong 

also holds 6.5% limited partnership interest in and is the general partner of Jinan Gong Chuang Meide 

Corporate Partnership (Limited Partnership)（濟南共創玫德企業管理合夥企業（有限合夥））, which in turn owns 

64.51% of Meide. Accordingly, Meide is an associate of Mr. Kong as defined under Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules and therefore a connected person of the Company.
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As the 2019 products supply framework agreement dated 22 November 2019 (the “2019 Products Supply 

Framework Agreement”) expired on 31 December 2021, on 29 December 2021 (after trading hours),  a 

framework products supply agreement (the “2022 Products Supply Framework Agreement”) was entered 

into between the Company on behalf of the Group as the vendor and Meide on behalf of Meide together with 

its subsidiaries as the purchaser, under which the Group agreed to sell products including steel pipes, 

standard prefabricated pipe nipples, and other products as specified in the 2022 Products Supply 

Framework Agreement to Meide Group. The 2022 Products Supply Framework Agreement renewed and 

revised the transactions contemplated under the 2019 Products Supply Framework Agreement and is 

effective for three years and may be renewed by the Company, subject to compliance with the requirements 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations. The annual cap of this 

continuing connected transaction for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB84.4 million, in aggregate 

(RMB52.8 million for distribution and RMB31.6 million for internal use within Meide Group). The aggregate 

amounts for the sales of products under the 2022 Products Supply Framework Agreement to Meide Group 

for distribution and for internal use within Meide Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were 

approximately RMB21.8 million and RMB24.8 million respectively.

Products purchase framework agreement

As the 2019 products purchase framework agreement (the “2019 Products Purchase Framework 

Agreement”) expired on 31 December 2021, on 29 December 2021 (after trading hours), the Company as the 

purchaser and Meide as the vendor entered into the 2022 products purchase Framework agreement (the 

“2022 Products Purchase Framework Agreement”), under which the Group agreed to purchase products 

including pipe fittings, repair parts, valves and crafts from Meide Group. The 2022 Products Purchase 

Framework Agreement renewed and revised the transactions contemplated under the 2019 Products 

Purchase Framework Agreement and is effective for three years and may be renewed by the Company, 

subject to compliance with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and all other applicable 

laws and regulations. The annual cap of this continuing connected transaction for the year ended 31 

December 2023 was RMB43.04 million. The aggregate amounts for purchases of products under the 2022 

Products Purchase Framework Agreement from Meide Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was 

approximately RMB15.9 million.

Listing Rules implications

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios as defined under the Listing Rules in respect of the 

largest annual caps under the 2022 Products Supply Framework Agreement and the 2022 Products 

Purchase Framework Agreement exceed 5%, the transactions under the 2022 Products Supply Framework 

Agreement and the 2022 Products Purchase Framework Agreement constitute a non-exempt continuing 

connected transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement, 

circular (including independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange has 

granted to the Company a waiver from strict compliance with the announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval requirements of the Listing Rules, subject to the aggregate values of the continuing 

connected transactions for each financial year not exceeding the relevant amounts set forth in the respective 

annual caps (as stated above).
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transaction set out above 

and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and 

usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the 

Group than terms available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant 

agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of 

the Company as a whole. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on 

the Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance 

Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information 

and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the 

Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu have issued their unqualified letter in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules concluding 

the followings:

(a)	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the above continuing connected 

transaction has not been approved by the Board;

(b)	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all 

material aspects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

(c)	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered 

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; 

and

(d)	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the above continuing connected 

transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 31 March 2019, a trademark licensing agreement was entered on between Meide Group and the 

Company pursuant to which Meide agreed to irrevocably grant the exclusive right to our Company (and its 

subsidiaries) the right to use Meide’s trademarks for business operation globally for nil consideration for an 

initial term of 10 years commencing on the date of the Trademark Licensing Agreement and will be renewed 

automatically every 10 years from the initial expiry date to the extent permissible under the Listing Rules, 

relevant laws and regulations (the “Trademark Licensing Agreement”). The provisions under this agreement 

provided for mutual termination by parties and does not provide for unilateral termination by our Company or 

Meide.

The transactions under Trademark Licensing Agreement fall within de minimis threshold as stipulated under 

Rule 14A.76(1)(a) of the Listing Rules, given that nil consideration is payable, and will be exempt from the 

reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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A Lease Agreement in relation to a factory facility in Thailand

On 31 March 2021, Delta Electric (Thailand) (as Lessee) entered into a lease agreement with Thai Steel Pipe 
(as Lessor) in respect of a factory facility in Thailand for a term of 2.75 years (the “Lease Agreement”). The 
Lease Agreement will commence from 1 April 2021 and expiring on 31 December 2023. The aggregated 
value of the rent payable shall amount to THB31.8 million (approximately HKD7.92 million). Siam Fittings 
Company Limited (“Thai Steel Pipe”) is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Meide, which is in turn 
controlled by Mr. Kong. Therefore Thai Steel Pipe is a connected person of the Company under the Listing 
Rules. As such, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the Lease 
Agreement constitute a one-off connected transaction of the Company.

As the Lease Agreement expired on 31 December 2023, on 12 January 2024, which is subsequent to the end 
of the reporting period, Delta Electric (Thailand) (as Lessee) entered into a lease agreement with Thai Steel 
Pipe (as Lessor) in respect of a factory facility in Thailand for further term of 1 year (the “Renewed Lease 
Agreement”). The aggregated value of the rent payable under the Renewed Lease Agreement shall amount 
to THB 5.1 million (approximately HKD 1.11 million). 

The transactions under the Renewed Lease Agreement fall within de minimis threshold as stipulated under 
Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the Listing Rules, and will be exempt from the reporting, announcement, annual review 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Except for the interest expenses charged by Meide, all of the Group’s related party transactions as disclosed 
in note 35 to the Group’s consolidated financial statements constitute continuing connected transactions or 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short 

positions in any Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 

were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the register required to 

be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known or otherwise notified to any Director or the chief executive of 

the Company, the particulars of the corporations or individuals (other than a Director or the chief executive 

of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company 

which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of 

the SFO, or which were record in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, were as 

follows:

Name Nature of Interest Number of Shares(1)(2)

Approximate

 percentage of

 Shareholding 

in the total 

issued share 

capital of our

 Company(1)(2)

Kong Linglei(3) Interest of a controlled corporation 172,600,000 Shares (L) 39.79%

Ying Stone Beneficial owner 172,600,000 Shares (L) 39.79%

Tong Chuang Sheng De 

Limited

Beneficial owner 70,160,000 Shares (L) 16.17%

Tong Chuang Xing De BVI Beneficial owner 51,040,000 Shares (L) 11.77%

Notes:

(1)	 All interests stated are long positions.

(2)	 Based on the total number of 433,800,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

(3)	 Kong Linglei holds 100% of the issued share capital of Ying Stone, which in turn holds 172,600,000 Shares, 
representing approximately 39.79% of the issued share capital of our Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company 

are not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an 

interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 

SFO; or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a written resolution passed by its 

shareholder on 19 November 2019. The Share Option Scheme took effect on 18 December 2019 upon listing 

of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Summary of the principal terms of the 

Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(i)	 Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant options as defined in the 

Share Option Scheme to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to our 

Group. The Board has not specified any performance target that must be achieved before options can 

be exercised.

Given that the Board are entitled to determine any performance targets to be achieved and that the 

exercise price of an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules or 

such higher price as may be fixed by the Board, it is expected that grantees of an option will make an 

effort to contribute to the development of our Group so as to bring about an increase of market price of 

the Shares in order to capitalise on the benefits of the options granted.

(ii)	 Participants

The Board may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person belonging to any of the following classes 

of participants (the “Eligible Persons”), to take up options to subscribe for Shares.

Any individual, being an employee (whether full time or part time), director (including independent 

non-executive Director), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent, 

business partner, joint venture business partner or service provider of our Company, its subsidiaries or 

any entity (the “Invested Entity”) who the Board considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed 

or will contribute to our Company, is entitled to be offered and granted options.
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(iii)	 Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 

Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Company must not in aggregate 

exceed 43,380,000 Shares, being 10.0% (“Scheme Mandate Limit”) of the Shares in issue immediately 

after completion of the Global Offering (without taking into account of the Shares which may be issued 

upon exercise of any options that may be granted under the Share Option Scheme) unless our 

Company obtains a fresh approval from its Shareholders Options lapsed in accordance with the terms 

of the Share Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate 

Limit.

(iv)	 Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options 

granted under the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each 

Eligible Person in any 12-month period must not exceed 1.0% of the issued share capital of our 

Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the 

Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant must be 

subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders and the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting 

of our Company with such Eligible Person and its associates abstaining from voting.

(v)	 Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time 

during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date 

subject to the provisions of termination thereof.

Subject to the discretion of the Board who may impose restrictions on the exercise of the option, an 

option may be exercised one year after the date on which the option is granted and shall expire on the 

earlier of the last day of (i) a six years period from the date of such grant and (ii) the expiration of the 

Share Option Scheme.

(vi)	 Minimum period

The Board at its discretion may impose such terms and conditions of the offer of grant on a 

case-by-case basis including but not limited to the minimum period for which an option must be held.

(vii)	 Payment on acceptance of option

A consideration of HK$1.00 (or such other nominal sum in any currency as the Board may determine) in 

favour of the Company is payable by the participant who accepts the grant of an option in accordance 

with the terms of the Share Option Scheme on acceptance of the grant of an option.
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(viii)	 Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price (“Subscription Price”) for Shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be a 

price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of 

Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on the date of grant of that option, which 

must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotations for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of that option; provided 

that in the event that any option is proposed to be granted within a period of less than five business 

days after the trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue price of the 

Shares for the Global Offering shall be used as the closing price for any business day falling within the 

period before listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(ix)	 The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption 

Date. As at the date of this report, it has a remaining life of around 5.5 years.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme since the adoption of the 

Scheme and up to the date of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate revenue from the Group’s largest customer and 

five largest customers accounted for approximately of 10.9% and 18.5% of the total revenue, respectively. 

Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately of 25.6% 

and 57.1% of the total purchases for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the 

Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of the Company) had any beneficial interest in 

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, 

the Company had maintained the prescribed public float requirements under the Listing Rules from the 

Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group subsequent to the end of the reporting period set out in the 

section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 29 of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a permitted indemnity provision as required by the Companies 

Ordinance (Chapter 622 Section 470, the Laws of Hong Kong) was in force for the benefits of all Directors.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited 

by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A 

resolution for the reappointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be 

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Guo Lei

Chairman

Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 

31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance to protect the interest of

its Shareholders and to place importance on its corporate governance system. The Company has adopted 

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock 

Exchange (the “CG Code” or the “Corporate Governance Code”) as its own code of corporate governance.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices and structures that were in place 

during the financial year ended 31 December 2023, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines of 

the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and the chief 

executive officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the same individual. Upon the 

resignation of Mr. Guo Lei as the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEO”) and the appointment of 

Mr. Zhou Zhi Wei as the CEO on 1 August 2023 (the “Appointment”), the Company has separate individuals 

performing as the chairman of the Board and the CEO. As such, the Board considers the Appointment would 

help to ensure a balance of power and authority for the management of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is of the view that saved as 

disclosed, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with the applicable code 

provisions of the CG Code.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance 

with the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set 

out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the 

Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with 

the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group, and delegates day-to-day operations 

to the management team of the Group. The Board provides directions to the management team by laying 

down strategies and plans, and then oversees the implementation performed by the management team. The 

Board also timely monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance through monthly reports 

prepared by the management team of the Group. The Board also reviews the compensation policies, 

succession planning, internal control system and risk management system regularly through various 

committee established under the Board.

Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, including three executive Directors, one non-executive Director 

and three independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the 

followings Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Lei (Chairman)

Mr. Yang Shufeng

Mr, Wang Ning

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhao Xuelian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Fengyuan

Mr. Ding Xiaodong

Mr. Sun Yongxi

The relationships among members of the Board have been disclosed in the section headed “Biographical 

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report. During the year ended 31 December 

2023, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least 

three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least one 

independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 

financial management expertise.
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Following the resignation of Mr. Ma Changcheng as an independent non-executive Director of the Company 

(the “INED”) on 1 April 2023, the Board will still have at least one INED possessing appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the 

Listing Rules. However, it will fail to meet the requirement of (i) Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing 

Rules in relation to the composition of the Board; (ii) Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in relation to the 

composition of the Audit Committee; (iii) Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules in relation to the composition of the 

Remuneration Committee and (iv) Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules in relation to the composition of the 

Nomination Committee. Following the appointment of Mr. Sun Yongxi as an INED, a member of the Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on 29 June 2023, (i) the number of INEDs 

has been restored to the minimum number of three and the number of INEDs can represent one-third of the 

Board, as required respectively under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the number of 

INEDs on the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee has been in 

compliance with the requirement under Rule 3.21, Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules respectively.

Independence of the independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual written confirmations from all independent non-executive Directors with 

regard to their independence, and therefore the Company still considers, based on the guidelines set out in 

Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, that all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Continuous professional development

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all of the Directors participated in continuous professional 

development by either attending external seminars and conferences, or reading materials relating corporate 

governance practices, directors’ duty and the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Guo Lei currently serves as the chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Zhou Zhiwei currently serves as the chief executive officer of the Company.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and the chief 

executive officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the same individual. Upon the 

Appointment, the Company has separate individuals performing as the chairman of the Board and the CEO. 

As such, the Board considers the Appointment would help to ensure a balance of power and authority for 

the management of the Company.
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Appointment & re-election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment and re-election of the Directors are laid down in the Articles. 

Pursuant to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at 

every annual general meeting of the Company, provided that every Director shall retire from office by rotation 

and are subject to re-election at annual general meeting at least once every three years. Directors who are 

appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting after their 

appointment, and are subject to re-election by the Shareholders.

Ms. Zhao Xuelian, Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun Yongxi will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer 

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming general meeting.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover liabilities arising from legal 

action against the Directors.

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, being the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee, to oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs. The terms of 

reference of the Board committees are published on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock 

Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of Directors and the 

corporate governance duties include:

(a)	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b)	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management of the Company;

(c)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d)	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees of the Company and Directors; and

(e)	 to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the 
Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Our Company established the Audit Committee on 19 November 2019 with its written terms of reference in 
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The 
primary duties of the Audit Committee include among other matters, to review and supervise the financial 
reporting process and internal control system of our Group, oversee the audit process, provide advice and 
comments to our Board, perform other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned by our Board and 
review and oversee the risk management of our Company, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Ding Xiaodong, Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun 
Yongxi. Mr. Ding Xiaodong has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is the 
independent non-executive Director who possesses the appropriate professional accounting and related 
financial management expertise. All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive 
Directors.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 comprises the 
following:

—	 reviewed the annual results announcement and the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2022;

—	 reviewed the interim results announcement and the interim report of the Group for the six months 
ended 30 June 2023;

—	 made recommendations to the Board on reappointment of the Company’s external auditor;

—	 approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of the Company’s external auditor;

—	 reviewed and monitoring the independence of the Company’s external auditor, objectivity and the 
effectiveness of the audit process;

—	 reviewed the effectiveness and resources of the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group;

—	 reviewed the Group’s risk management and financial control system; and

—	 reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and practices.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee has also review the 
annual results announcement and the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Remuneration Committee

Our Company established the Remuneration Committee on 19 November 2019 with its written terms of 

reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. 

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other matters, to establish, review and 

make recommendations to our Directors on our policy and structure concerning remuneration of our 

Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for 

developing policies concerning such remuneration, determine the terms of the specific remuneration 

package of each executive Director and senior management and review and approve performance-based 

remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our Directors from time-to-time.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Liu Fengyuan, Mr. Sun Yongxi and 

Mr. Guo Lei. Mr. Liu Fengyuan, our independent non-executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman 

of the Remuneration Committee. The majority of the Remuneration Committee members are independent 

non-executive Directors. Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun Yongxi are independent non-executive Directors and 

Mr. Guo Lei is an executive Director.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 comprises 

the followings:

—	 reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

—	 assessed performance of executive Directors and approved the terms of executive Directors’ service 

contracts.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the remuneration paid to the senior 

management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands Number of individual(s)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3
Below HK$1,000,000 0

Details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 7(a) and 7(b) 

to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report, respectively.
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Nomination Committee

Our Company established the Nomination Committee on 19 November 2019 with its written terms of 

reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. 

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other matters, to review the structure, size 

and composition of our Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to our Board regarding any 

proposed changes to the composition of our Board, identify, select or make recommendations to our Board 

on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, ensure the diversity of our Board members, assess 

the independence of our independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations to our Board on 

relevant matters relating to the appointment, reappointment and removal of our Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Guo Lei, Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun 

Yongxi. Mr. Guo Lei, our Chairman and executive Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the 

Nomination Committee. The majority of the Nomination Committee members are independent non-executive 

Directors. Mr. Liu Fengyuan and Mr. Sun Yongxi are independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Guo Lei is 

an executive Director.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 comprises the 

following:

—	 reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the 

Board at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to 

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

—	 identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting or making 

recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

—	 made recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and 

succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into 

account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity 

needed in the future, together with the Board, as appropriate;

—	 assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors in accordance with the provisions 

of the Listing Rules and other relevant laws, rules and regulations; and

—	 reviewed the board diversity policy, developed and reviewed measurable objectives for implementing 

the board diversity policy and monitoring the progress on achieving these objectives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in the Board composition and has adopted a board 

diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the 

Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the Company. In designing the Board’s 

composition, selection of candidates has been considered from a number of perspectives and measurable 

objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry 

experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to 

be devoted as a director. The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business model 

and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the 

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered and reviewed the composition and diversity of the Board. All the 

executive Directors and non-executive Director possess extensive and diversified experience in management 

and industrial experience. The three independent non-executive Directors possess professional knowledge in 

management, finance, accounting and legal aspects. The Nomination Committee will review the board 

diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee recognises that the gender diversity of the Board and will continue to use its 

best efforts, to train, retain, attract and select suitable female candidates that can contribute success to the 

Group. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six male directors and one female director.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 25% of the Group’s employees (including senior management) are 

female and 75% are male.

Board and Board committee meetings

Code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code states that at least four regular Board meetings 

should be held each year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of 

Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of communication.
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The attendance of each Director for the Board meetings and general meeting held during the year ended 31 

December 2023 is set out in the following table:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Directors Board

Audit 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

General 

Meeting

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Lei (Chairman of the Board) 4/4 N/A 2/2 2/2 1/1

Mr. WANG Ning 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Yang Shufeng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhao Xuelian 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Fengyuan 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1

Mr. Ding Xiaodong 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Ma Changcheng 

(Resigned on 1 April 2023) 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 N/A

Mr. Sun Yongxi  

(Appointed on 29 June 2023) 3/3 2/2 N/A N/A N/A

Apart from the above Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-executive 

Directors only without the presence of other Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid or payable to Messrs. Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu and its affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:

Services rendered RMB’000

Audit services 1,680

Non-audit services —

1,680

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no fees attributable to the non-audit services were incurred.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

55ANNUAL REPORT 2023

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors were not aware of any 

material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor with regards to the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report as contained in this annual report.

As Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is relatively familiar with the Group’s financials and affairs, the Board 

considers that the audit and other related work in respect of the Group for the year ending 31 December 

2023 could be performed more efficiently by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, which is in the best interests of the 

Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks the Company is 

willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes 

and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. In addition to the 

Board’s responsibilities, the senior management of the Company has risk management processes to identify, 

evaluate and manage significant risks, review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 

systems and to resolve material internal control defects. The Board oversees management in the design, 

implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. The Board 

acknowledges that such risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than 

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute 

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group does not have an internal audit function and is currently of the view that there is no immediate 

need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the 

Group’s business. The Board and the Audit Committee will review the need for an internal audit function 

from time to time. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board confirms that it has conducted a 

review of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group by the external internal control 

consultant. The Board concludes, based on the result of the review, that the risk management and internal 

control systems currently in place are adequate and effective for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal control systems will be performed 

annually.
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With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, 

the Group has policy and procedures which prohibit unauthorised use and dissemination of inside 

information. The Board is aware of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance with the 

Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” 

issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. In addition, only Directors and delegated officers can act 

as the Group’s spokesperson and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wing Lun, an external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as its company 

secretary. The primary corporate contact persons at the Company are Mr. Liu Minghuai, the Deputy general 

manager (Finance). The biographical details of Mr. Leung are set out under the section headed “Biographical 

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the company secretary of the Company had confirmed that he 

had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to send enquiries

Shareholders may at any time raise enquiries to the Board. The enquiries must be in writing with contact 

information of the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the principal place of the business of the Company in 

Hong Kong at Unit 1102, 11/F, Brill Plaza, 84 To Kwa Wan Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the 

attention of the company secretary of the Company.

Procedure for convene an extraordinary general meeting and putting forward proposals

Shareholders can at any time raise enquiries to the Board. The enquiries must be in writing with contact 

information of the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong 

Kong at Unit 1102, 11/F, Brill Plaza, 84 To Kwa Wan Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the 

attention of the company secretary of the Company.
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Any one or more duly registered holder of the Shares holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not 

less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 

the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the 

Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 

business specified and putting forward proposals in such requisition; the written requisition shall be 

deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the 

meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s). Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit 

of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, 

the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses 

incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the 

requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Dividend policy

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board and the approval of our Shareholders. 

Our Directors may recommend a payment of dividends in the future after taking into account our operations 

and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital 

expenditure and future development requirements, shareholders’ interests and other factors which they may 

deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will be 

subject to our constitutional documents and the Cayman Companies Law, including the approval of our 

Shareholders. Any future declarations of dividends may or may not reflect our historical declarations of 

dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of our Directors.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its shareholders, 

investors and other stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting, the annual report  

and interim report, notices, announcements and circulars that are available on the Stock Exchange’s website 

at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.mechpipingtech.com. Overall, the Company 

considers the shareholders’ communication policy of the Group implemented and conducted during the year 

to be effective. The Company will continue to review the implementation and effectiveness of the 

shareholders’ communication policy by shareholders’ feedback from the above channel.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum and the articles of association of the Company has been amended and restated with 

effect from 31 May 2023.

The latest version of the memorandum and articles of association of the Company are available for viewing 

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED

邁科管業控股有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Maike Tube Industry Holdings Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 140 which 

comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 

HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 

in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER — continued

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified impairment assessment of trade 

receivables under expected credit loss (“ECL”) 

model as a key audit matter due to significance 

of the Group’s trade receivables in the context 

o f  t h e  G r o u p ’ s  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l 

s tatements, combined wi th management 

judgement involved.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has trade 

receivables amounting to RMB538,907,000, net 

of allowance amounting to RMB20,941,000. 

Further information related to trade receivables 

is provided in note 18 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

M a n a g e m e n t  j u d g e m e n t  i s  r e q u i r e d  i n 

assessing and determining the recoverability of 

trade receivables and adequacy of allowance 

made us ing ECL model  under HKFRS 9 

Financial Instruments. The ECL provision is 

assessed col lect ively using the provision 

matrix, which is based on internal credit ratings 

as groupings of various debtors that have 

similar credit risk characteristics. The provision 

matrix are based on the Group’s historical 

c r e d i t  l o s s  e x p e r i e n c e s  t a k i n g  i n t o 

consideration forward-looking information that 

is reasonable and supportable available without 

undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, 

the historical credit loss experiences are 

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking 

i n f o r m a t i o n  a r e  c o n s i d e r e d .  T h e  k e y 

assumptions on allowance for ECL and the 

Group’ credit risk management are disclosed in 

notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

In evaluating management’s impairment assessment for 

trade receivables, our procedures included:

•	 Obtaining an understanding and testing the design 

and implementation of the relevant key controls on 

how management determine the allowance for ECL;

•	 Evaluating the model used by management in 

determining the allowance for ECL;

•	 Test ing the in tegr i ty o f  in format ion used by 

management to develop the provision matr ix, 

including trade receivables aging analysis as at 31 

December 2023, on a sample basis, by comparing 

individual items in the analysis with the relevant 

sales invoices and other supporting documents; and

•	 Challenging management’s basis and judgement in 

de te rm in ing c red i t  l oss  a l l owance on t rade 

receivables as at 31 December 2023, including the 

reasonableness of management’s grouping of the 

trade debtors into di f ferent categories in the 

provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss 

rates applied in each category in the provision 

matrix (with reference to historical default rates and 

forward-looking information).
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and 

for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 

contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.



61ANNUAL REPORT 2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS — continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS — continued

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, action taken to 

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matter communicated with those charged with governance, we determine the matter that was of 

most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore 

the key audit matter. We describe the matter in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Cheung, Wilfred.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

22 March 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NOTES 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 2,190,942 2,107,290
Cost of sales (1,807,403) (1,716,372)

Gross profit 383,539 390,918
Other income 8 9,672 4,363
Other gains and losses 8 6,309 15,213
Distribution and selling expenses (87,119) (116,586)
Administrative expenses (59,211) (53,823)
Research and development costs (68,037) (76,406)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model,  

net of reversal 9 (5,137) (5,097)
Finance costs 10 (6,690) (5,331)

Profit before taxation 11 173,326 153,251
Income tax expense 12 (20,465) (14,461)

Profit for the year 152,861 138,790

Other comprehensive (expense) income

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on translation  

of foreign operation (2,473) 5,844

Total comprehensive income for the year 150,388 144,634

Profit for the year attributable to:
– Owners of the Company 153,731 139,695
– Non-controlling interests (870) (905)

152,861 138,790

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
– Owners of the Company 151,264 145,045
– Non-controlling interests (876) (411)

150,388 144,634

Earnings per share
– Basic (RMB yuan) 14 0.35 0.32
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AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 409,803 421,879
Deferred tax assets 16 4,648 5,727
Prepayments for plant and equipment 1,409 656

415,860 428,262

Current assets
Inventories 17 279,969 249,478
Trade receivables 18 538,907 340,064
Trade receivables backed by bills 19 11,150 12,028
Contract assets 21 20,810 26,907
Tax recoverable 1,036 4,225
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 22 146,614 121,385
Amounts due from related parties 23 17,754 7,318
Financial assets at fair value through profit  

or loss (“FVTPL”) 24 – 1,516
Pledged bank deposits 25 172,775 33,510
Time deposits 25 18,483 –
Cash and cash equivalents 25 71,943 57,760

1,279,441 854,191

Current liabilities
Trade and bill payables 26 415,233 90,704
Contract liabilities 27 60,822 41,809
Derivative financial instruments 24 22 –
Refund liabilities 28 5,281 10,600
Other payables and accrued charges 29 84,626 81,343
Amounts due to related parties 23 2,486 4,816
Provisions 3,132 2,238
Tax liabilities 2,947 655
Borrowings 30 38,362 75,946
Lease liabilities 31 1,528 3,541
Deferred income 32 1,440 1,388

615,879 313,040

Net current assets 663,562 541,151

Total assets less current liabilities 1,079,422 969,413
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

NOTES 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 31 3,068 3,908
Deferred tax liabilities 16 14,858 14,143
Deferred income 32 10,536 11,479

28,462 29,530

Net assets 1,050,960 939,883

Capital and reserves
Share capital 33 304 304
Reserves 1,046,226 934,273

Attributable to owners of the Company 1,046,530 934,577
Non-controlling interests 4,430 5,306

Total equity 1,050,960 939,883

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 140 were approved and authorised for issue by the 

board of directors on March 22, 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

Statutory Non-
Share Share Other surplus Translation Retained Sub-total controlling

capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note a) (Note b)

At 1 January 2022 304 325,519 123,260 38,919 (2,291) 340,920 826,631 5,717 832,348

Profit (loss) for the year – – – – – 139,695 139,695 (905) 138,790
Other comprehensive income  

for the year – – – – 5,350 – 5,350 494 5,844

Total comprehensive income  
(expense) for the year – – – – 5,350 139,695 145,045 (411) 144,634

Dividends recognized as distribution – (37,099) – – – – (37,099) – (37,099)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve – – – 12,822 – (12,822) – – –

At 31 December 2022 304 288,420 123,260 51,741 3,059 467,793 934,577 5,306 939,883

Profit (loss) for the year – – – – – 153,731 153,731 (870) 152,861
Other comprehensive expense  

for the year – – – – (2,467) – (2,467) (6) (2,473)

Total comprehensive (expense)  
income for the year – – – – (2,467) 153,731 151,264 (876) 150,388

Dividends recognized as distribution – (39,311) – – – – (39,311) – (39,311)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve – – – 13,938 – (13,938) – – –

At 31 December 2023 304 249,109 123,260 65,679 592 607,586 1,046,530 4,430 1,050,960

Notes:

(a)	 Other reserve represented the difference between (i) the difference between the nominal value of shares or equity 
interests paid/received by Mr. Kong (as defined in note 1) and the share of net assets by non-controlling interests 
for each acquisition or disposal of shares/equity interests pursuant to changes in ownership interests in Jinan Mech 
Piping Technology Co., Ltd (“Jinan Mech”) and Jinan Magang steep Pipes Manufacturing Company (“Jinan Ma 
Steel”) in 2016 which did not result in change of control and; (ii) the difference between the consideration paid to 
non-controlling interests in acquiring the remaining registered capital of Jinan Mech and the share of net assets of 
Jinan Mech by non-controlling interests upon and reorganisation in 2019.

(b)	 As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), before distribution 
of the net profit each year, the subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of their net profit after 
taxation for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ 
registered capital). The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the relevant 
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 173,326 153,251

Adjustments for:

Impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal 5,137 5,097

Finance costs 6,690 5,331

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 40,815 38,335

Losses (gains) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 1,561 (23)

Fair value change of foreign currency forward contracts 1,423 (547)

Fair value change of derivative financial instruments 115 (93)

Write-down of inventories 1,621 2,169

Fair value change on structured bank deposits (141) (26)

Interest income (1,684) (256)

Amortization of deferred income (1,435) (1,051)

Unrealised exchange differences (923) (2,715)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 226,505 199,472

(Increase) decrease in inventories (34,444) 41,052

Increase in trade receivables (203,750) (80,023)

Decrease in trade receivables backed by bills 878 50,687

Decrease in contract assets 5,867 22

Increase in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (25,229) (47,284)

Increase in amounts due from related parties (10,436) (2,695)

Increase (decrease) in trade and bill payables 17,325 (6,444)

Increase in contract liabilities 19,013 1

Increase in other payables and accrued charges 3,283 24,291

Decrease in refund liabilities (5,319) (2,812)

Increase in provisions 894 842

(Decrease) increase in amounts due to related parties (2,330) 4,126

Increase in deferred income 544 10,000

Cash (used in) generated from operations (7,199) 191,235

Income taxes paid (13,190) (13,387)

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (20,389) 177,848
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (24,522) (49,515)

Prepayments for plant and equipment (1,409) (656)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 1,099 3,055

Receipts from structured bank deposits 141 26

Interest received 1,684 256

Placement of pledged bank deposits (339,616) (68,849)

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 200,351 41,079

Placement of structured bank deposits (211,690) (141,850)

Withdrawal of structured bank deposits 211,690 141,850

Placement of time deposits (18,483) –

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (180,755) (74,604)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings raised 116,500 132,000

Repayment of borrowings (154,000) (223,000)

Dividends paid to owners of the Company (39,311) (37,099)

Proceeds from discounted bills 361,671 –

Repayment of maturity discounted bills (64,151) –

Payment of lease liabilities (2,658) (3,630)

Interest paid (3,506) (4,360)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 214,545 (136,089)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 13,401 (32,845)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 57,760 86,548

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 782 4,057

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 71,943 57,760



69ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Maike Tube Industry Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the 

Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The immediate 

holding company is Ying Stone Holdings Limited (“Ying Stone”), which was incorporated in the British 

Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and entirely owned by Mr. Kong Linglei（孔令磊）(“Mr. Kong”). The addresses 

of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the 

“Corporation Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly 

engaged in the manufacturing of steel pipe products and the prefabricated pipe nipple products. 

Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in note 41. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively 

referred as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional 

currency of the Company.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants for the first time, which are mandatorily effective 

for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020  

and February 2022 Amendments to 

HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendment to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on 

the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS — continued

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are 

not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10  

and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 

related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKFRSs will have 

no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by 

the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information 

is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by 

primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures 

required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial 

statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern 

basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 

entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 

that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 

ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 

subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the 

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the 

Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if the results in 

the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring 

their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, 

which represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net 

assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to contracts with customers is provided 

in Note 5.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the 

Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 

at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be 

reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 

components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 

the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 

price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease 

component, and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease 

components as a single lease component.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Leases – continued

The Group as a lessee – continued

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of some temporary staff 

dormitories that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 

contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives 

received;

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment”, the same line item 

within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Leases – continued

The Group as a lessee – continued

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 

Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and 

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at 

the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value 

of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 

date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any 

lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease 

payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 

financial position.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 

underlying assets; and

•	 the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone 

price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to 

reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the 

lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease 

payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding 

adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract contains one or more 

additional lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to 

each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The 

associated non-lease components are included in the respective lease components.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 

other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of 

exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 

monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 

date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 

monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of 

the Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using 

exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are 

translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 

interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in 

which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to 

compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should 

purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in 

the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic 

and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses 

already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no 

future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 

Such grants are presented under “other income”.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit are recognised as an expense when 

employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 

expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee 

benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of 

the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries and 

annual leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 

before taxation as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each 

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 

those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 

business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 

profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal 

taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Taxation — continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 

with such investment and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 

will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences 

and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises 

the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax 

deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the 

Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. 

The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 

can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 

deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, 

the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Taxation — continued

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is 

probable that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed 

to be use by individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and 

deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is 

not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect 

of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply 

of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in 

the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 

and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, equipment, machinery, motor vehicles and software in the course of construction for 

production and administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. 

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, including 

costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, 

borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of 

these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready 

for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, 

other than construction in progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, 

using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 

method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 

estimate accounted for a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 

arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 

the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 

in profit or loss.
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is 

incurred.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant 

and equipment to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 

impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 

order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are estimated individually. When it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant 

cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or 

otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable 

and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the 

cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and 

is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of 

cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 

a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the asset (or a cash generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 

flows have not been adjusted.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment — continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be 

allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the 

carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 

corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, 

with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment 

loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying 

amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an 

asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its 

value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise 

have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group 

of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a 

cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of 

its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a)	 cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that 

are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the 

definition of cash; and

(b)	 cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three 

months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 

cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are 

held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or 

other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 

of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are 

repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts 

are presented as short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are 

determined on the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated 

selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make 

the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the 

sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 

flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 

recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are 

purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade 

receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments. Transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 

liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted 

from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 

recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 

financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 

payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 

amount on initial recognition.
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual 

cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 

Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets — continued

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be 

measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 

measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 

assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that 

have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting 

period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 

financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning 

of the report ing per iod fol lowing the determinat ion that the asset is no longer 

credit-impaired.

(ii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or 

FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, 

with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss 

recognised in profit or loss includes any interest earned on the financial asset and is 

included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial assets (including trade 

receivables, trade receivables backed by bills, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank 

deposits, time deposits, cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from related parties) and 

contract assets, which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL 

is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 

life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL 

that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 

reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 

adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 

assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 

conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets, trade receivables 

backed by bills and trade related amounts due from related parties without significant financing 

component.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month 

ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group 

recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based 

on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 

— continued

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 

Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting 

date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 

recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 

qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 

and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether the 

credit risk has increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 

available) or internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 

increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 

are expected to cause a significant decrease in debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 

risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 

than 50 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 

demonstrates otherwise.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 

— continued

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk — continued

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 

the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 

becomes past due.

(ii)	 Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 

information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 

is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 

asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been occurred. Evidence that 

a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the borrower;

•	 A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

•	 The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 

borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

•	 It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 

— continued

(iv)	 Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 

counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for 

example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 

bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two 

years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to 

enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 

advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent 

recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 

magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of 

the probabil i ty of default and loss given default is based on historical data and 

forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted 

amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The 

Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision 

matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking 

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group 

expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables, contract assets, trade receivables backed by bills 

and trade related amounts due from related parties without significant financing component 

are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past due information and 

relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic information.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 

— continued

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL — continued

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics 

when formulating the grouping:

•	 Past-due status;

•	 Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

•	 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group 

continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 

unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated 

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by 

adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, contract assets and 

trade nature amounts due from related parties where the corresponding adjustment is 

recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined 

in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. 

Specifically:

•	 For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging 

relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and 

losses’ line item (note 8) as part of the net exchange gains;

•	 For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging 

relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and 

losses’ line item as part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of financial assets at 

FVTPL (note 8);

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 

recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 

pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 

profit or loss.



MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 

with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 

after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company is recognised at the 

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bill payables, other payables and accrued charges, refund 

liabilities, borrowings and amounts due to related parties are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION — continued

3.2	 Material accounting policy information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered 

into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The 

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity 

of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled within 12 

months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities. 

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the 

consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a 

legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net 

basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management of 

the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions 

are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTIES — continued

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the 

directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and 

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of steel coils. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal 

for such transactions as it controls the specified good before it is transferred to the customer after 

taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise 

to provide the goods and the Group is exposed to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the 

performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of consideration to 

which the Group expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised revenue relating to trading amounted 

to RMB600,523,000 (2022: RMB551,690,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets under HKFRS 9

The Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL provision is assessed 
collectively using the provision matrix, which is based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various 
debtors that have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision matrix are based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experiences taking into consideration forward-looking information that is 
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the 
historical credit loss experiences are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are 
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the 
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets are disclosed in note 18.
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5.	 REVENUE

(i)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of goods or service:
Sales of pipe products:

– ERW steel pipes 372,668 373,970
– Standard prefabricated pipe nipples 308,794 412,845
– Spiral submerged arc welded steel pipes 604,972 477,645
– Customised steel pipes 270,164 263,410
– Design and supply assembled piping system 33,163 27,290

Trading of steel coils 600,523 551,690
Others 658 440

2,190,942 2,107,290

Geographical markets
PRC 1,451,736 1,303,618
Others 739,206 803,672

2,190,942 2,107,290

Timing of revenue recognition:
A point in time 2,190,284 2,106,850
Over time 658 440

2,190,942 2,107,290



MAIKE TUBE INDUSTRY HOLDINGS LIMITED96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5.	 REVENUE — continued

(ii)	 Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies

The Group sells ERW steel pipes products, standard prefabricated pipe nipples products, spiral 

submerged arc welded steel pipes products, customised steel pipes products, design and supply 

assembled piping system to customers and trade steel coils with customers. For sales of goods, 

revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have 

been shipped to the customer’s specific location and inspected by the customers or the goods 

have been loaded into shipper’s trucks (delivery). Transportation and other related activities that 

occur before customers obtains control of the related good are considered as fulfilment activities. 

A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customers as this 

represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the 

passage of time is required before payment is due. The credit term is generally 15 to 360 days 

upon delivery.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect liability period, are classified as contract 

assets, which ranges from 6 to 24 months from the date of the acceptance of the pipe products. 

The relevant amount of contract assets is reclassified to trade receivables when the defect liability 

period expires.

Sales-related warranties associated with pipe products cannot be purchased separately and they 

serve as an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-upon specifications. 

Accordingly, the Group accounts for warranties in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets consistent with its previous accounting treatment.

(iii)	 Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with 

customers

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all performance obligations for sales of 

goods are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price 

allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operation is derived from the production and sales of pipe products in the PRC, Vietnam 

and Thailand. For the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment, the chief operating 

decision maker (“CODM”) (i.e. the chief executive officer) reviews the overall results and financial 

position of the Group as a whole, which are prepared based on same accounting policies set out in 

note 3. Accordingly, no operating segment is presented.

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the destination 

of goods in the sales orders/contracts. Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding 

deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers

Year ended 31 December

Non-current

assets

As at 31 December

2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC 1,451,736 1,303,618 387,705 396,491

The United States of America (“US”) 227,723 315,227 – –

Other countries in America  

(excluding US) 136,928 111,564 – –

Other countries in Asia  

(excluding PRC) 311,753 282,141 23,507 26,044

Europe 29,249 43,043 – –

Others 33,553 51,697 – –

2,190,942 2,107,290 411,212 422,535

Information about major customer

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total sales of the 

Group are as follows:

31/12/2023 31/12/2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A 239,660 N/A

N/A:	 Not disclosed as amount less than 10% of total revenue.
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company by entities comprising the 

Group as follows:

Contributions 
to retirement

Salaries and Discretionary benefit 
Fees other benefits bonus schemes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note v)

For the year ended 31 December 2023:
Executive directors (note i)
Guo Lei (note ii) – 641 1,350 48 2,039
Yang Shufeng – 341 724 52 1,117
Wang Ning – 316 556 52 924

Sub-total – 1,298 2,630 152 4,080

Independent non-executive directors 
(note iii)

Mr. Sun Yongxi (note vi) – 42 – – 42
Mr. Liu Fengyuan – 100 – – 100
Mr. Ma Changcheng (note vi) – – – – –
Mr. Ding Xiaodong – 100 – – 100

Sub-total – 242 – – 242

Non-executive director (note iv)
Mrs. Zhao Xuelian – – – – –

Sub-total – – – – –

Total 4,322
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS — continued

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments — continued

Contributions 
to retirement

Salaries and Discretionary benefit 
Fees other benefits bonus schemes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note v)

For the year ended 31 December 2022:
Executive directors (note i)
Guo Lei (note ii) – 991 1,246 46 2,283
Yang Shufeng – 451 500 49 1,000
Wang Ning – 330 286 49 665

Sub-total – 1,772 2,032 144 3,948

Independent non-executive directors 
(note iii)

Mr. Liu Fengyuan – 100 – – 100
Mr. Ma Changcheng (note vi) – 100 – – 100
Mr. Ding Xiaodong – 100 – – 100

Sub-total – 300 – – 300

Non-executive director (note iv)
Mrs. Zhao Xuelian – – – – –

Sub-total – – – – –

Total 4,248

Note i:	 The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

Note ii:	 Guo Lei resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2023, but continued to serve as 
Chairman of the Group.

Note iii:	 The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as 
directors of the Company.

Note iv:	 The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for her service as directors of the 
Company.

Note v:	 Discretionary bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant 
individuals within the Group and the Group’s performance.

Note vi:	 Mr. Ma Changcheng resigned on 1 Aprill 2023 and Mr. Sun Yongxi was appointed as independent 
non-executive director on 29 June 2023.
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7.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS — continued

(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments — continued

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an 

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There was no 

arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 

remuneration during both years.

(b)	 Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included three (2022: two) directors. 

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,965 2,423

Discretionary bonus (note) 4,313 3,668

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 256 217

6,534 6,308

Note:	Discretionary bonus is determined based on their duties and responsibilities of the relevant individuals 
within the Group and the Group’s performance.

The emoluments of the five highest paid employees are within the following band:

2023 2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 – 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 –

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 –

5 5

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an 

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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8.	 OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income

Government grant (note i) 7,988 4,107

Bank interest income 1,684 256

9,672 4,363

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other gains and losses

Gain on sales of scrap materials 8,638 10,311

Fair value gains (losses) on financial assets at FVTPL

– structured bank deposits 141 26

– foreign currency forward contracts (note ii) (2,272) (7,697)

Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments (note iii) 442 1,276

(Losses) gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment (1,561) 23

Net exchange gains 1,153 10,738

Others (232) 536

6,309 15,213

Notes:

i.	 During the year ended 31 December 2023, the relevant government authorities granted one-off and 
unconditional subsidies to the Group amounting to RMB6,553,000 (2022: RMB4,107,000).

ii.	 During the year ended 31 December 2023, gains on US$ to RMB foreign currency forward contracts 
represented realised losses of RMB849,000 (2022: realised losses of RMB8,244,000) and unrealised losses of 
RMB1,423,000 (2022: unrealised gains of RMB547,000) on changes in fair value of foreign currency forward 
contracts.

iii.	 During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount represented realised gains of RMB557,000 (2022: realised 
gains of RMB1,183,000) and unrealised losses of RMB115,000 (2022: unrealised gains of RMB93,000) arising 
on changes in fair value of commodity derivative contracts.
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9.	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF 
REVERSAL

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment losses recognised (reversed) on:

– trade receivables 4,907 6,167

– contract assets 230 (1,070)

5,137 5,097

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 18.

10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Finance costs represent interests on:

– bank borrowings 3,422 4,954

– discounted bills 3,128 –

– lease liabilities 140 377

6,690 5,331
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11.	 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration 1,680 1,880

Directors’ emoluments (note 7) 4,322 4,248

Other staff costs:

– Salaries and other benefits 87,375 78,190

– Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 27,242 23,642

Less: capitalised in inventories (58,454) (58,349)

Total staff costs 56,163 43,483

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 40,815 38,335

Less: capitalised in inventories (30,644) (26,796)

Total depreciation 10,171 11,539

Cost of inventories sold 1,807,403 1,716,372

Write-down of inventories (included in cost of inventories sold) 1,621 2,169

12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax:

– Hong Kong 1,235 –

– PRC Enterprise Income Tax 12,327 7,711

– Vietnam 1,843 1,978

15,405 9,689

Under provision in prior years:

– PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,563 2,311

Deferred tax (note 16)

– Current year 3,497 2,461

Taxation charge 20,465 14,461
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE — continued

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the 

tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Jinan Mech Piping Technology Co., Ltd (“Jinan Mech”) was recognised as a High and New Technology 

Enterprises in 2023, and the applicable tax rate is 15% from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Jinan Magang Steel Pipes Manufacturing Company (“Jinan Ma Steel”) was recognised as a High and 

New Technology Enterprises in 2021, and the applicable tax rate is 15% from 1 January 2021 to 31 

December 2023. In the opinion of the directors, Jinan Ma Steel will apply for renewal of the High and 

New Technology Enterprises status in the year of 2024 and it is highly likely such renewal will be 

granted.

Under the tax law in Hong Kong, the tax rate of Tube Industry Investments Limited (“Tube Industry”) is 

8.25% if the taxable income is under HK$2,000,000 and the tax rate on the taxable income exceeding 

HK$2,000,000 is 16.5%.

The Company and the group entity incorporated in the BVI are not subject to income tax in the Cayman 

Islands or any other jurisdiction.

Under the tax law in Vietnam, the tax rate of Viet Nam Piping Industries Company Limited (“Viet Nam 

Piping “) is 20%. Viet Nam Piping has been granted to enjoy 2-years exemption of income tax followed 

by 4-year 50% reduction of income tax from the first profit making year. Starting from 2019, Viet Nam 

Piping enjoyed the 2-years exemption of income tax. Starting from 2021, Viet Nam Piping enjoyed the 

4-year 50% reduction of income tax.

Under the tax law in Thailand, the tax rate of Delta Electric is 20%. No provision for income tax has 

been made for Delta Electric in Thailand as there was no estimated assessable profit for the year ended 

31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023.
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE — continued

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 173,326 153,251

Taxation at PRC EIT rate of 25% 43,332 38,313

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 620 840

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised 797 (159)

Tax deduction on research and development expenses (note a) (15,996) (18,753)

Additional deduction of machinery and  

equipment Procurement (note b) – (3,151)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,134 624

Under provisions in prior years 1,563 2,311

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating  

in other jurisdictions (656) (827)

Withholding tax on distributed profits of PRC subsidiaries 1,662 2,400

Income tax at concessionary rate (11,991) (7,137)

Taxation charge for the year 20,465 14,461

Notes:

a	 Pursuant to Caishui [2021] circular No.13, Jinan Mech and Jinan Ma Steel enjoy super deduction of 200% on 
qualified research and development expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

b	 According to the PRC EIT Law and its relevant regulation issued in 2022, entities that qualified as High and 
New Technology Enterprise are entitled to an additional 100% of the amount of qualified machinery and 
equipment newly purchased from 1 October 2022 to 31 December 2022, which is allowed to be deducted from 
taxable income.
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13.	 DIVIDEND

2023 2022

HK$’000 RMB’000 HK$’000 RMB’000

Dividends recognised as distribution  

during the year:

2022 final dividend of HK10 cents (2022: 2021 

final dividend HK10 cents) per share 43,380 39,311 43,380 37,099

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 

December 2023 of HK12 cents (equivalent to RMB10.9 cents) (2022: HK10 cents (equivalent to RMB9.1 

cents)) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of HK$52,056,000 (equivalent to RMB47,284,200) 

(2022: HK$43,380,000 (equivalent to RMB39,311,000) has been proposed by the directors of the 

Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

14.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the following data:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings:

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share  

(profit for the year – attributable to owners of the Company) 153,731 139,695

2023 2022

’000 ’000

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  

of calculating basic earnings per share 433,800 433,800

No diluted earnings per share was presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue.
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right- Office 

of-use Construction Electronic and other Motor

assets in progress Buildings equipment Machinery equipment vehicles Software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST

At 1 January 2022 150,562 82,791 122,193 8,752 168,493 8,834 6,711 3,710 552,046

Additions 779 41,568 – 925 10,893 137 640 – 54,942

Disposals – – – (122) (3,125) (93) (395) – (3,735)

Transfer 603 (121,764) 40,987 8,146 66,340 897 4,634 157 –

At 31 December 2022 151,944 2,595 163,180 17,701 242,601 9,775 11,590 3,867 603,253

Additions 755 27,361 – – 4,373 – – – 32,489

Lease modification (1,090) – – – – – – – (1,090)

Disposals – – – (1,788) (3,891) – (441) – (6,120)

Transfer – (19,753) 6,688 3,099 8,637 45 511 773 –

At 31 December 2023 151,609 10,203 169,868 19,012 251,720 9,820 11,660 4,640 628,532

ACCUMULATED 

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2022 10,430 – 41,424 5,388 79,734 3,470 1,233 2,063 143,742

Provided for the year 6,284 – 7,532 3,549 17,160 396 2,176 1,238 38,335

Eliminated on disposals – – – (44) (464) (35) (160) – (703)

At 31 December 2022 16,714 – 48,956 8,893 96,430 3,831 3,249 3,301 181,374

Provided for the year 5,375 – 8,215 4,373 19,681 439 2,272 460 40,815

Eliminated on disposals – – – (749) (2,295) – (416) – (3,460)

At 31 December 2023 22,089 – 57,171 12,517 113,816 4,270 5,105 3,761 218,729

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At 31 December 2023 129,520 10,203 112,697 6,495 137,904 5,550 6,555 879 409,803

At 31 December 2022 135,230 2,595 114,224 8,808 146,171 5,944 8,341 566 421,879
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — continued

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are depreciated 

on a straight-line basis after taking into account their estimated residual values, at the following rates 

per annum:

Buildings 3.8% to 9.5%

Electronic equipment 9.5% to 31.7%

Machinery 6.3% to 19%

Office and other equipment 9.5% to 19%

Motor vehicles 9.5% to 19%

Right-of-use assets Over lease terms

Software 20% to 33.3%

The buildings are situated on the land use rights in the PRC.

The Group has pledged buildings with the carrying amount of RMB50,470,000 (2022: RMB54,087,000) 

to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets at the end of each reporting period and the depreciation by 

classes of right-of-use assets are set out as below:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amounts

Land 125,005 127,791

Plant 4,515 7,439

129,520 135,230

Depreciation recognised in profit or loss

Land 2,786 2,783

Plant 2,589 3,501

5,375 6,284

Total cash outflow for leases 2,658 3,630
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — continued

The Group has pledged rights-of-use assets with the carrying amount of RMB39,841,000 (2022: 

RMB40,826,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB4,596,000 (2022: RMB7,449,000) are recognised with related 

right-of-use assets of RMB4,515,000 (2022: RMB7,439,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease 

agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are 

held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

16.	 DEFERRED TAX

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 4,648 5,727

Deferred tax liabilities (14,858) (14,143)

(10,210) (8,416)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon 

during the current and prior years:

Impairment
losses of trade Withholding

receivables Impairment Accelerated tax on Distributable Unconditional
and contract losses of tax dividend profits of PRC Tax government

assets inventories depreciation reinvestment subsidiaries loss grant received Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 1,822 89 (3,786) (4,080) – – – (5,955)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 658 184 (3,877) – (2,400) 1,574 1,400 (2,461)

At 31 December 2022 2,480 273 (7,663) (4,080) (2,400) 1,574 1,400 (8,416)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 520 124 (756) – (1,662) (1,574) (149) (3,497)
Reversal on payment of 

withholding tax on 
distributable profits of  
PRC subsidiaries – – – – 1,703 – – 1,703

At 31 December 2023 3,000 397 (8,419) (4,080) (2,359) – 1,251 (10,210)
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16.	 DEFERRED TAX — continued

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits 

earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for 

in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated 

profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB596 million (2022: RMB465 million) as the Group is 

able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB4,536,000 

(2022: RMB10,499,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 

recognised in respect RMB4,536,000 in 2023 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 

Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately RMB4,518,000 arising from Thailand 

with expiry dates in 2028 and approximately RMB18,000 arising from PRC with expiry dates in 2028. A 

deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMB10,499,000 of such losses which were tax 

losses arising from the PRC and can be carried forward up to ten years from the year in which the loss 

was originated to offset future taxable profits in 2022.

17.	 INVENTORIES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 126,765 124,682

Work in progress 14,692 19,549

Finished goods 138,512 105,247

279,969 249,478
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18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 559,848 356,098

Less: allowance of impairment loss (20,941) (16,034)

Total trade receivables 538,907 340,064

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to RMB266,208,000.

The Group generally allows credit period of 15 to 360 days to its trade customers. The following is an 

aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for impairment loss, presented based on the 

invoice date at the end of each reporting period.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 60 days 174,888 196,402

61 – 180 days 162,462 85,771

181 days – 1 year 164,298 50,128

Over 1 year 37,259 7,763

538,907 340,064

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 

defines its credit limits. Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory trustworthy credit 

history. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
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18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES — continued

The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 

ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items using a provision matrix grouped into the following 

categories with reference to past default experience for recurring customers and current past due 

exposure for new customers.

Internal 

credit rating Description

Trade receivables/

contract assets

Group A The counterparty has a low risk of default based  

on historical repayment records and does not  

have any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL –  

not credit-impaired

Group B The counterparty usually settles within 50 days  

after due dates

Lifetime ECL –  

not credit-impaired

Group C There have been significant increases in credit risk  

since initial recognition through information developed 

internally or external resources or the counterparty 

delays its payment after 50 days after due dates

Lifetime ECL –  

not credit-impaired

Group D There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – 

credit-impaired

Group E There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  

in severe financial difficulty and the Group  

has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off
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18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES — continued

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and 

contract assets which are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022 

Average loss rate

Gross 

carrying

amounts

of trade

receivables

Gross 

carrying

amounts of

contract 

assets

Gross 

carrying

amounts

of trade

receivables

Gross 

carrying

amounts of

contract 

assets

Internal credit rating 2023 2022 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group A 0.100% 0.055% 318,965 13,629 170,852 19,614

Group B 4.038% 3.833% 167,232 1,241 118,405 1,603

Group C 18.660% 16.507% 73,126 7,381 66,356 6,901

559,323 22,251 355,613 28,118

The estimated loss rates are estimated on historical credit loss experiences over the expected life of 

the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or 

effort. The contract assets have the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same type 

of contracts would apply the same internal credit rating and loss rate. The grouping is regularly 

reviewed by management of the Group to ensure relevant information about specific debtors and 

contract assets is updated.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate 

carrying amount of RMB75,965,000 (2022: RMB75,554,000) which are past due as at the reporting 

date. Out of the past due balances, RMB38,949,000 (2022: RMB30,434,000) has been past due 50 days 

or more and is not considered credit impaired. With reference to the historical records, past experience 

and also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information to those customers, 

management of the Group does not consider these receivables as credit-impaired as these customers 

have a good business relationship and satisfactory settlement history.
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18.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES — continued

Movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade receivables and contract assets:

Trade Trade Contract

receivables receivables assets under

under lifetime under lifetime lifetime ECL

ECL (not credit- ECL (credit- (not credit-

impaired) impaired) impaired)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 9,867 – 2,281

Changes due to financial instruments 

recognised as at 1 January:

– Transfer to credit-impaired (485) 485 –

– Impairment recognised – – –

– Impairment reversed (7,986) – (1,889)

New financial assets originated 14,153 – 819

As at 31 December 2022 15,549 485 1,211

Changes due to financial instruments 

recognised as at 1 January:

– Transfer to credit-impaired (40) 40 –

– Impairment recognised – – –

– Impairment reversed (10,825) – (516)

New financial assets originated 15,732 – 746

As at 31 December 2023 20,416 525 1,441
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19.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES BACKED BY BILLS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables backed by bills 11,150 12,028

For customers who used bank bills to settle their trade receivables upon the expiry of the initial credit 

period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables backed by bills at the end of each reporting period was 

based on the date of the Group’s receipt of the bills from the customers.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 180 days 10,565 9,819

181 days – 1 year 585 2,209

11,150 12,028

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no pledged trade receivables backed by bills to secure general 

banking facilities granted to the Group and as at 31 December 2022, the Group had pledged trade 

receivables backed by bills amounted to RMB2,112,000 to secure general banking facilities granted to 

the Group.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables backed by bills subject to ECL model

The Group assessed the trade receivables backed by bills on lifetime ECL basis. Management of the 

Group believes that those bills are issued by the banks with high credit ratings assigned by 

international credit-rating agencies and the Group considers that the risk of default over trade 

receivables backed by bills is regard as low and lifetime ECL is insignificant at the end of the reporting 

period.
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20.	 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Transfers financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety

The following were the trade receivables backed by bills as at the end of the report period that were 

transferred to suppliers by endorsing these trade receivables backed by bills on a full recourse basis. 

As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these trade receivables 

backed by bills, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the trade receivables backed by 

bills and the payables to suppliers. These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of transferred assets 2,528 2,490

Carrying amount of associated liabilities (2,528) (2,490)

Net position – –

All the trade receivables backed by bills transferred to suppliers of the Group have a maturity date of 

less than one year from the end of the reporting period.

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety but have continuing 

involvement

As of 31 December 2023, the Group have derecognised bills discounted to the banks or endorsed to 

certain suppliers but not expired amounting to RMB16,991,000 (2022: RMB14,229,000). These bills are 

issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC banks with high credit ratings, therefore the Directors of the 

Company consider the substantial risks in relation to these bills are interest risk as the credit risk 

arising from these bills are minimal, the Group has transferred substantially all the risks (i.e. interest 

risks) of these bills to relevant banks or suppliers. However, if the bills cannot be accepted at maturity, 

the relevant banks or suppliers have the right to require the Group to pay off the outstanding balance. 

Therefore, the Group continue its involvement in them.
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21.	 CONTRACT ASSETS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Retention receivables on sales of pipe products 22,251 28,118

Less: allowance for impairment loss (1,441) (1,211)

20,810 26,907

As at 1 January 2022, contract assets amounted to RMB25,859,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed and not 

billed under the relevant contracts, and their rights are conditioned on the factors other than passage 

of time. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the such rights become 

unconditional other than passage of time.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its 

normal operating cycle.

The Group typically agrees to a retention period ranging from 6 to 24 months for 5% or 10% of the 

contract value with certain customers in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.

The retention receivables, net of allowance for impairment loss to be settled, based on the completion 

of defect liability period, at the end of the reporting period as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 10,550 18,924

Over one year 10,260 7,983

20,810 26,907

Details of the impairment assessment on contract assets subject to ECL model disclosed in note 18.
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22.	 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Advance payment for materials 137,866 109,270

Other tax recoverable 4,062 6,157

Tendering deposit 3,049 4,597

Prepayments 556 850

Other receivables 1,081 511

146,614 121,385

Impairment assessment on deposits and other receivables subject to ECL model

Management of the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL on deposits and other 

receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience and also available reasonable and 

supportive forward-looking information. Management of the Group believes that there is no material 

credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and other receivables. ECL on 

deposits and other receivables is insignificant as the exposure of deposits and other receivables is 

insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.
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23.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/TO RELATED PARTIES

Amounts due from related parties

Details of amounts due from related parties which are trade nature, unsecured, interest-free are as 

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Jinan Kede Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. 

濟南科德智能科技有限公司 (“Kede Intelligent”) (note) 7,262 706

Meide Group Linyi Co., Ltd. 

玫德集團臨沂有限公司 (“Linyi Meide”) (note) 5,822 681

Meide Group Co., Ltd. (“Meide”) 3,441 4,936

玫德雅昌（濟南）管業有限公司 (“Meide Archung (Jinan)”) (note) 523 5

Linyi Meide Gengchen Metal Material Co., Ltd. 

臨沂玫德庚辰金屬材料有限公司 

(“Linyi Meide Gengchen”) (note) 501 343

玫德雅昌（鶴壁）管業有限公司 (“Meide Archung”) (note) 90 136

Jinan Mech Valve Technology Co., Ltd.  

濟南邁克閥門科技有限公司 (“Mech Valve”) (note) 69 176

Meide Ayvaz Metal Products Co., Ltd.  

玫德艾瓦茲（濟南）金屬制品有限公司 (“Ayvaz Metal”) (note) 37 –

Jinan Mech Crafts Co., Ltd. 

濟南邁克工藝品有限公司 (“Mech Crafts”) (note) 8 169

山東晨暉電子科技有限公司 (“Chenhui Electronic”) (note) 1 42

Meide (Shandong) New Energy Co., Ltd. 

玫德（山東）新能源有限公司 (“Meide New Energy”) (note) – 123

Meide Archung Group Co. Ltd.  

玫德雅昌集團有限公司 (“Meide Archung Group”) (note) – 1

17,754 7,318

Note:	Subsidiaries of Meide.
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23.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/TO RELATED PARTIES – continued

Amounts due from related parties – continued

The Group allows credit period from 60-180 days to these related parties. The following is an ageing 

analysis of the trade nature amounts due from related parties based on the invoice date at the end of 

the reporting period.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 60 days 13,337 4,715

61 – 180 days 3,023 1,923

181 – 360 days 381 566

Over 1 year 1,013 114

17,754 7,318

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s amounts due from related parties balance are 

debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,394,000 (2022: RMB680,000) which are past due as 

at the reporting date. The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

Impairment assessment on amounts due from related parties subject to ECL model

The Group assessed the amounts due from related parties on simplified ECL basis. Management of the 

Group considers the risk of default by counterparty is insignificant based on the exposure of amounts 

due from related parties at the end of the reporting period, their understanding on the financial position, 

continuous settlement record of the counterparty and forward-looking information (such as current and 

forecasted economic growth rates in the PRC, which reflect the general economic conditions of the 

steel industry) that is available without undue cost or effort and thus the ECL on the balance is 

insignificant.
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23.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/TO RELATED PARTIES — continued

Amounts due to related parties

Details of amounts due to related parties which are trade nature, unsecured, interest-free are stated as 

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Siam Fittings Co., Ltd.  

泰鋼管配件有限公司 (“Siam Fittings”) (note) 866 2,163

Meide Archung 810 –

Meide New Energy 331 –

Meide 171 384

Intercom Technology (Shandong) Co. 

信通科技（山東）有限公司 (“Information Technology”) (note) 125 40

Meide Archung (Jinan) 78 190

Mech Valve 77 81

Chenhui Electronic 28 –

Kede Intelligent – 1,842

Ayvaz Metal – 116

2,486 4,816

note:	 Subsidiary of Meide.

The credit period on purchases of goods is 180 days. The following is an ageing analysis of amount 

due to a related party presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 60 days 1,545 4,794

61 – 180 days 941 22

2,486 4,816
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24.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign currency forward contracts – 1,423

Commodity derivative contracts (Note) – 93

– 1,516

Liability

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Commodity derivative contracts (Note) 22 –

Note:	During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the net-settled commodity derivative 
contract was entered into by the Group through Shanghai Futures Exchange for the purpose of reducing its 
exposure to commodity price risk. The commodity derivative contract was not accounted for under hedge 
accounting.

Major terms of the commodity derivative contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2023 were set out 

below:

Standard

Contract price trading unit Total unit Maturity date

Steel commodity derivative contract:

Selling at price of RMB4,056 per ton 10 tones 40 May 2024

Major terms of the commodity derivative contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2022 were set out 

below:

Standard

Contract price trading unit Total unit Maturity date

Steel commodity derivative contract:

Buying at price of RMB4,043 per ton 10 tones 100 May 2023
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25.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND TIME 
DEPOSITS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Pledged bank deposits (note i) 172,775 33,510

Cash and cash equivalents (note ii) 71,943 57,760

Time deposits (note iii) 18,483 –

263,201 91,270

Notes:

(i)	 Pledged bank deposits represented bank deposits pledged to banks to secure short-term banking facilities 
granted to the Group. The pledged deposits carried interest at prevailing market rate of an average interest 
rate is 1.42% (2022: 1.46%) per annum.

(ii)	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less. Short-term bank deposits are made for various periods ranging from 1 to 3 
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group. The cash and cash equivalents carried 
interest at prevailing market rate which range from 0.2% to 2.15% (2022: 0.25% to 1.65%) per annum.

(iii)	 As at 31 December 2023, time deposits represented bank deposits with maturity over three months and, it 
carried the fixed interest rate ranging from 4.7% to 7.1% per annum.

26.	 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 67,094 73,414

Bill payables 348,139 17,290

415,233 90,704

The following is an ageing analysis of bills payables at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 180 days 348,139 17,290
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26.	 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES — continued

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of the bills payable which issued by the Group to the companies 

in the Group and the companies discounted the bills payable before maturity is RMB300,648,000 (2022: 

Nil).

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. The following is an ageing analysis of 

trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 30 days 25,698 35,569

31 – 60 days 6,528 7,843

61 – 120 days 13,069 5,141

121 – 180 days 2,765 4,588

181 – 360 days 6,576 8,847

Over 360 days 12,458 11,426

67,094 73,414

27.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts consist of advance payments from customers for goods. The amounts of contract 

l iabi l i t ies as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, which are RMB41,808,000, and 

RMB41,809,000, were recognised as revenue during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

28.	 REFUND LIABILITIES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Arising from retrospective volume rebates to customers 5,281 10,600

The refund liability relates to volume rebates to the customers and a corresponding adjustment to 

revenue is recognised.
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29.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Staff costs payable 22,116 20,669

Other tax payable 16,482 10,154

Transportation cost payable 2,491 2,361

Deposits received from suppliers 5,722 7,204

Guarantee receipts from staff on trade receivables (note) 4,801 7,858

Accrued charges 28,951 30,213

Agency fee payable 4,063 2,884

84,626 81,343

Note:	The amounts received by the Group represented guarantee on certain trade receivables provided by relevant 
sales staff of the Group, which is interest bearing at a fixed rate of 3.2% per annum, and will be settled on a 
monthly basis. Once the trade receivables are considered non-recoverable, the related guarantee receipts 
from sales staff would not be payable to sales staff accordingly.

30.	 BORROWINGS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Secured bank borrowings (note a) 38,362 17,946

Unsecured bank borrowings (note b) – 58,000

38,362 75,946

Carrying amounts of borrowings:

– repayable within one year 38,362 75,946

Notes:

a	 As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank borrowings amounting RMB38,362,000 (2022: RMB17,946,000), 
carried fixed interest rate ranging from 2.5% to 3.45% (2022: 3.8%) per annum.

b	 As at 31 December 2022, the unsecured bank borrowings carried fixed interest rate ranging from 3.60 % to 
3.90% per annum.

Details of assets pledged by the Group at the end of each reporting period are set out in note 36.
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31.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities payable:

– within one year 1,528 3,541

– more than one year but not exceeding two years 1,011 993

– more than two years but not exceeding five years 2,057 2,915

4,596 7,449

Less:	 Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown  

  under current liabilities (1,528) (3,541)

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months shown  

under non-current liabilities 3,068 3,908

The Group leased a property to operate its factory and the lease liabilities were measured at the 

present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid. The lease liabilities were secured by rental 

deposit of RMB268,000 (2022: RMB523,000).

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is 4.30% (2022: 4.32%).

32.	 DEFERRED INCOME

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Government grants related to relevant assets 11,976 12,867

Less: Current portion 1,440 1,388

Non-current portion 10,536 11,479

The deferred income represent government grants related to relevant assets towards the cost of 

construction of the Group’s electronic plant. The amount is transferred to income over the useful lives 

of the relevant assets. As at 31 December 2023, an amount of RMB11,976,000 remains to be 

amortised.
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33.	 SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 December 2023 represented the issued share capital of the Company.

Details of the Company’s shares are disclosed as follows:

Number

RMB 

equivalent

of shares Amount amount

US$ US$’000 RMB’000

Ordinary Shares of US$0.0001 each

Authorised:

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 

2022 and 31 December 2023 500,000,000 50,000 50 335

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 

2022 and 31 December 2023 433,800,000 43,380 43 304

34.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by 

the local government. The Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to 

the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the 

retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The contributions to the retirement benefits scheme of the Group during the year are disclosed in notes 

7 and 11, respectively.
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35.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following 

significant transactions with its related parties during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Name of related companies Nature of transactions 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Meide Sales of pipe products 18,355 28,536

Sales of scrap materials 15,242 23,144

Purchase of inventories 2,244 1,643

Linyi Meide Gengchen Sales of pipe products 680 985

Linyi Meide Sales of pipe products 4,774 600

Sales of scrap materials 24 17

Purchase of inventories 388 –

Shandong Meiyuan Renewable Resource 

Co., Ltd.

山東玫源再生資源有限公司 (“Meiyuan 

Renewable”) (note i)

Sales of scrap materials – 1,463

Mech Valve Sales of pipe products 386 153

Purchase of inventories 1,019 327

Mech Crafts Sales of pipe products 62 351

Purchase of inventories 1,172 44

Kede Intelligent Sales of pipe products 538 1,620

Sales of scrap materials – 5

Purchase of inventories 8,797 6,327

Meide Group Weihai Co., Ltd. Sales of pipe products 289 93

玫德集團威海有限公司 Sales of scrap materials – 5

(“Meide Weihai”) (note i) Purchase of inventories 276 –

Meide New Energy Purchase of inventories 1,416 2,007

Sales of pipe products 261 676

Meide Archung Sales of pipe products 1,968 22

Purchase of inventories 5 2,358
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Name of related companies Nature of transactions 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Meide Archung Group Purchase of inventories 431 9

Sales of pipe products 7 1

Meide Archung (Jinan) Sales of pipe products 2,740 14

Purchase of inventories – 190

Information Technology Purchase of inventories 22 36

Chenhui Electronic Sales of pipe products 62 89

Purchase of inventories 54 –

Ayvaz Metal Sales of pipe products 74 6

Purchase of inventories 54 164

Siam Fittings Lease liabilities – 2,229

Purchase of inventories – 2,076

Sales of pipe products 1,173 –

Note:

i.	 Subsidiary of Meide.

The above transactions were transacted at prices agreed between the parties.

Compensation of key management personnel

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration of directors of the Company and other 

members of key management were as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other benefits 3,210 3,455

Discretionary bonus 5,023 4,276

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 341 361

8,574 8,092

35.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – continued
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36.	 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged the following assets to secure the general 

banking facilities granted to the Group.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 50,470 54,087

Right-of-use assets 39,841 40,826

Trade receivables backed by bills – 2,112

Pledged bank deposits 172,775 33,510

263,086 130,535

37.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided  

in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:

– acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,806 1,718

38.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Management of the Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a 

going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 

equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt balance, which includes borrowings and lease 

liabilities as disclosed in notes 30 and 31 respectively, and equity balance. Equity balance consists of 

equity attributable to owners of the Group, comprising share capital and reserves.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure on an on-going annual basis. As part of this 

review, management of the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 

class of capital. Based on recommendations of management of the Group, the Group will balance its 

overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new issue of share as well as the issue of 

new debt.
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)	 Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

– Foreign currency forward contracts – 1,423

– Commodity derivative contracts – 93

Financial assets at amortised cost 835,142 455,788

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 507,390 232,586

Derivative financial instruments 22 –

Lease liabilities 4,596 7,449

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, trade receivables backed by 

bills, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged bank deposits, time 

deposits, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from related parties/to related parties, trade 

and bill payables, other payables and accrued charges, refund liabilities, borrowings and lease 

liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks 

associated with these financial instruments include market risk (foreign currency risk and interest 

rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowings and lease 

liabilities (notes 30 and 31). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to 

its pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents and time deposits (note 25).

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy. However, management of the 

Group closely monitors its exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk as a result of change on 

market interest rate and will consider hedging changes in market interest rates should the need 

arise.
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Market risk — continued

Interest rate risk — continued

Sensitivity analysis

No sensitivity analysis below is presented as management of the Group considers that the interest 

rate fluctuation for pledged bank deposits and bank balances and time deposits is not significant.

Foreign currency risk

Certain cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, trade receivables and trade payables are 

denominated in US$ and HK$, the currency other than the functional currency of the respective 

group entities, at end of each reporting period.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management of 

the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 

currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated monetary assets and monetary 

liabilities at the end of the reporting period as follows:

2023 2022

US$ HK$ US$ HK$

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 44,192 3 47,721 2

Other receivables 824 92 1,547 –

Trade receivables 110,991 – 93,905 –

Trade payables 238 – – –
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Market risk — continued

Foreign currency risk — continued

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis of strengthening 5% (2022: 5%) in functional currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) 

against US$ resulted a decrease in post-tax profit of RMB6,656,000 (2022: RMB5,848,000). For a 

5% weakening of RMB against US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the results.

5% is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 

possible change in foreign exchange rates.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the impact for HK$ denominated assets is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due 

to failure to discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the 

respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 

at the end of each reporting period. The Group does not have any collateral or other credit 

enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality 

and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory trustworthy 

credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. Other monitoring 

procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In 

addition, the Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance on trade 

receivables and contract assets at lifetime ECL as disclosed in notes 18 and 21 based on 

provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk 

is significantly reduced.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as the largest customer and 

the top five trade debtors accounted for approximately 30.33% and 42.55% (2022: 10.28% and 

32.62%) of its total trade receivables. Management of the Group regularly visits these customers 

to understand their business operations and cash flows position and follows up the subsequent 

settlement from the counterparties. In this regard, management of the Group considers that this 

credit concentration risk has been significantly mitigated.
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — continued

Trade receivables backed by bills

The credit risk on trade receivables backed by bills are limited as those bills are issued by banks 

with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and no history of default 

in the past, thus no loss allowance provision for bills was recognised.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, management of the Group makes periodic collective 

assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical settlement 

records and past experience. The management of the Group believes that there is no material 

credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and other receivables. The 

Group recognises the 12-month ECL on deposits and other receivables, and there was no 

significant increase in credit risk on other receivables.

Pledged bank deposits/time deposits/cash and cash equivalents

There is concentration of credit risk on pledged bank deposits/time deposits and cash and cash 

equivalents for the Group as at 31 December 2023. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited 

because the majority of counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international 

credit-rating agencies and 12-month ECL is insignificant.

Amounts due from related parties

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of the related parties. The Group’s credit 

risks in these balances are mitigated through the value of the assets held by these entities. The 

management believes that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since 

initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12-month ECL. For the years 

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the ECL for amounts due from related 

parties are insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognized.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the Group to finance its operations and 

mitigates the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the 

utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Liquidity risk — continued

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. 

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based 

on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are 

floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the 

reporting period.

Total Total

Effective undiscounted carrying

interest rate On demand 1-3 months 4-12 months 1-5 years cash flow amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities  

and lease liabilities

Trade and bill payables N/A 415,233 – – – 415,233 415,233

Refund liabilities N/A 5,281 – – – 5,281 5,281

Other payables and accrued charges N/A 46,028 – – – 46,028 46,028

Amounts due to related parties N/A 2,486 – – – 2,486 2,486

Fixed-rate bank borrowings 2.99 – 8,918 29,994 – 38,912 38,362

Lease liabilities 4.30 – 621 949 3,407 4,977 4,596

469,028 9,539 30,943 3,407 512,917 511,986

Derivative financial liabilities 22 – – – 22 22

As at 31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities  

and lease liabilities

Trade and bill payables N/A 90,704 – – – 90,704 90,704

Refund liabilities N/A 10,600 – – – 10,600 10,600

Other payables and accrued charges N/A 50,520 – – – 50,520 50,520

Amounts due to related parties N/A 4,816 – – – 4,816 4,816

Fixed-rate bank borrowings 3.76 – 68,435 8,203 – 76,638 75,946

Lease liabilities 4.32 – 1,110 2,521 5,467 9,098 7,449

156,640 69,545 10,724 5,467 242,376 240,035
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39.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — continued

(c)	 Fair value measurement

The following provides information about how the Group determines fair value of various financial 

assets and financial liabilities.

Fair value measurement of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are 

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair values at the end 

of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these 

financial assets and liability are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs 

used).

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial assets and liability 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 hierarchy and key inputs

Assets
Commodity derivative  

contracts at FVTPL
– RMB93,000 Level 2 Quoted bid prices in an Shanghai 

Futures Exchange

Foreign currency forward 
contracts at FVTPL

– RMB1,423,000 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows 
are estimated based on forward 
exchange rates (from observable 
forward exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period) and contract 
forward rates. discounted at a rate that 
reflects the credit risk of various 
counterparties.

Liability
Commodity derivative  

contracts at FVTPL
RMB22,000 – Level 2 Quoted bid prices in an Shanghai 

Futures Exchange

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

The management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and 

financial liabilities of the Group recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial 

statements at the end of each reporting period approximate their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 

generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
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40.	 MOVEMENT ON GROUP’S LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows 

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as 

cash flows from financing activities.

Dividend 

payables 

Bills

payable

Lease

liabilities Borrowings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 – – 9,923 166,352 176,275

Interest expenses – – 377 4,954 5,331

Financing cash flows (37,099) – (3,630) (95,360) (136,089)

Dividends declared 37,099 – – – 37,099

New leases entered – – 779 – 779

At 31 December 2022 – – 7,449 75,946 83,395

Interest expenses – 3,128 140 3,422 6,690

Financing cash flows (39,311) 297,520 (2,658) (41,006) 214,545

Dividends declared 39,311 – – – 39,311

Lease modified – – (1,090) – (1,090)

New leases entered – – 755 – 755

At 31 December 2023 – 300,648 4,596 38,362 343,606
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41.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at the date of this report are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place and the date 
of incorporation/ 
establishment

Place of 
operation

Issued and fully 
paid capital/ 

registered capital

Shareholding/
equity interest 

attributable to owners 
of the Company 
at 31 December Principal activities

2023 2022

Directly held:

Guan Dao  
Investments Limited

The BVI  
3 January 2019

BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held:

Jinan Mech PRC  
21 May 2013

PRC RMB395,980,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and   
sales of steel pipe,  
pipe nipples and 
prefabricated steel pipes

Jinan Ma Steel PRC  
13 October 2001

PRC RMB400,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and   
sales of steel pipe,  
pipe nipples and 
prefabricated steel pipes

Tube Industry Hong Kong  
23 January 2019

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Viet Nam Piping Vietnam  
7 January 2019

Vietnam US$2,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and  
sales of steel pipe,  
pipe nipples and 
prefabricated steel pipes

Shandong Mech  
Supply Chain  
Management Co., Ltd.

PRC  
1 September 2020

PRC RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Trading steel coils

Shandong Mech Intelligent 
Technology Co., Ltd

PRC  
25 December 2020

PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Project construction

Delta Electric Thailand  
13 January 2021

Thailand THB181,928,000 85% 71% Manufacturing and sales  
of pipe nipples and 
prefabricated steel pipes

Jinan Mech Economic  
and Trade Co., Ltd

PRC  
20 January 2022

PRC RMB3,000,000.00 100% 100% Warehouse handling 
service

Weihai Mech Pipe 
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

PRC  
15 March 2023

PRC RMB1,000,000.00 100% 100% Sales of spiral steel pipes

Yongqing Keqi  
Trading Co., Ltd.

PRC  
21 June 2023

PRC RMB500,000.00 100% 100% Trading company

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

Note:	All of the PRC subsidiaries are companies registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law, except 
for Jinan Mech which is registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise with limited liability under the PRC 
law.
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42.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 189,737 189,737

Current asset
Cash and cash equivalents 209 448

209 448

Current liability
Amount due to a subsidiary 24,321 24,321

24,321 24,321

Net current liability (24,112) (23,873)

Net assets 165,625 165,864

Capital and reserves
Share capital 304 304
Reserves 165,321 165,560

Total equity 165,625 165,864

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share 
premium and 
other reserve

Capital
reserve

Accumulated
(losses) 

profits Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2021 162,849 4,523 (362) 167,010
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 35,649 35,649
Dividends recognised as distribution (37,099) – – (37,099)

At 31 December 2022 125,750 4,523 35,287 165,560
Profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year – – 39,072 39,072
Dividends recognised as distribution (39,311) – – (39,311)

At 31 December 2023 86,439 4,523 74,359 165,321 

43.	 MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of leased plants for 2-5 

years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 

RMB755,000 and RMB755,000 (2022: RMB779,000 and RMB779,000) respectively.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is as follows.

RESULT

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Revenue 2,190,942 2,107,290 1,776,028 1,255,139 1,125,281

Profit before taxation 173,326 153,251 130,134 104,224 104,123

Taxation charge (20,465) (14,461) (14,845) (4,697) (14,450)

Profit for the year 152,861 138,790 115,289 99,527 89,673

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Total assets 1,695,301 1,282,453 1,228,336 998,645 1,011,197

Total liabilities (644,341) (342,570) (395,988) (243,219) (353,855)

Net assets 1,050,960 939,883 832,348 755,426 657,342
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